Shrinking body sizes in response to warming: explanations for the temperature–size rule with special emphasis on the role of oxygen

Wilco C.E.P. Verberk^{1*}, David Atkinson², K. Natan Hoefnagel^{1,3}, Andrew G. Hirst^{4,5}, Curtis R. Horne⁴ and Henk Siepel¹

¹Department of Animal Ecology and Physiology, Institute for Water and Wetland Research, Radboud University, Heyendaalseweg 135, 6525 AJ, Nijmegen, The Netherlands

³Faculty of Science and Engineering, Ocean Ecosystems — Energy and Sustainability Research Institute Groningen, University of Groningen, Nijenborgh 7, 9747 AG, Groningen, The Netherlands

⁴School of Environmental Sciences, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, L69 3GP, U.K.

⁵Centre for Ocean Life, DTU Aqua, Technical University of Denmark, Lyngby, Denmark

ABSTRACT

Body size is central to ecology at levels ranging from organismal fecundity to the functioning of communities and ecosystems. Understanding temperature-induced variations in body size is therefore of fundamental and applied interest, yet thermal responses of body size remain poorly understood. Temperature-size (T-S) responses tend to be negative (e.g. smaller body size at maturity when reared under warmer conditions), which has been termed the temperature-size rule (TSR). Explanations emphasize either physiological mechanisms (e.g. limitation of oxygen or other resources and temperature-dependent resource allocation) or the adaptive value of either a large body size (e.g. to increase fecundity) or a short development time (e.g. in response to increased mortality in warm conditions). Oxygen limitation could act as a proximate factor, but we suggest it more likely constitutes a selective pressure to reduce body size in the warm: risks of oxygen limitation will be reduced as a consequence of evolution eliminating genotypes more prone to oxygen limitation. Thus, T–S responses can be explained by the 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past', whereby the resulting (evolved) T–S responses safeguard sufficient oxygen provisioning under warmer conditions, reflecting the balance between oxygen supply and demands experienced by ancestors. T-S responses vary considerably across species, but some of this variation is predictable. Body-size reductions with warming are stronger in aquatic taxa than in terrestrial taxa. We discuss whether larger aquatic taxa may especially face greater risks of oxygen limitation as they grow, which may be manifested at the cellular level, the level of the gills and the whole-organism level. In contrast to aquatic species, terrestrial ectotherms may be less prone to oxygen limitation and prioritize early maturity over large size, likely because overwintering is more challenging, with concomitant stronger end-of season time constraints. Mechanisms related to time constraints and oxygen limitation are not mutually exclusive explanations for the TSR. Rather, these and other mechanisms may operate in tandem. But their relative importance may vary depending on the ecology and physiology of the species in question, explaining not only the general tendency of negative T-S responses but also variation in T-S responses among animals differing in mode of respiration (e.g. water breathers versus air breathers), genome size, voltinism and thermally associated behaviour (e.g. heliotherms).

Key words: Bergmann's rule, cell size, climate warming, gigantism, growth trajectory, hypoxia, life-history trade-off, phenotypic plasticity, temperature-size rule, thermal reaction norms

²Department of Evolution, Ecology and Behaviour, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, L69 7ZB, U.K.

^{*} Address for correspondence (Tel: +0031 24 3653155; E-mail: wilco@aquaticecology.nl)

Biological Reviews **96** (2021) 247–268 © 2020 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction: the importance of temperature–size relationships	248
II.	The nature of the TSR	249
III.	Patterns in T–S responses	250
	(1) T–S responses due to phenotypic plasticity	250
	(2) T–S responses across populations, species and communities	251
IV.	The dependency of T–S responses on growth and development	251
	(1) Growth and development rates have different thermal sensitivities	251
	(2) Are there insurmountable constraints on growth?	252
	(3) Thermal responses in growth rate	254
	(4) Fish and the temperature–size rule	256
	(5) Thermal responses in development rate	256
	(6) Are grasshoppers an exception to the temperature–size rule?	257
	(7) Effects of cell and genome size on thermal responses	257
	(8) Explaining the TSR as the balance between growth and development \dots	259
V.	Why are negative T–S responses so prevalent?	260
	(1) Mortality and reproduction are temperature- and size-dependent	260
	(2) Resource limitation is temperature- and size-dependent	260
	(3) Mortality and fecundity are often resource dependent	
VI.	What explains most of the variation in T-S responses?	261
	(1) Seasonality and voltinism	
	(2) Effects of day length on T–S responses	262
	(3) The 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past'	262
	(4) Temperature and oxygen as an information cue	
VII.	Questions and directions for future research	263
VIII.	Conclusions	264
	Acknowledgements	264
IX.	References	264

I. INTRODUCTION: THE IMPORTANCE OF TEMPERATURE–SIZE RELATIONSHIPS

Body size is central to ecology at multiple scales, from organismal fecundity to the functioning of communities and ecosystems (Hildrew, Raffaelli, & Edmonds-Brown, 2007). Larger individuals can potentially produce more offspring, live longer, may be superior competitors and be better at avoiding predators. These advantages favour growing to a large size (Brown & Sibly, 2006). The drawbacks to becoming large are varied. For example, growing larger takes more time and, during this time period, organisms may die or the environment may become unfavourable (Blanckenhorn, 2000). Larger individuals also commonly require more resources per unit time. Consequently, there is an optimal size and age to reproduce, which depends on the environmental conditions that enable growth and, for example, influence juvenile and adult mortality risks (Stearns, 1992).

Over 80% of ectothermic species examined follow the temperature–size rule (TSR), that is they mature at a smaller size when reared in warmer conditions, despite initially growing faster (Atkinson, 1994; Fig. 1A). Despite the generality of this empirical pattern (Berrigan & Charnov, 1994), explaining it from life-history theory is not straightforward (Atkinson & Sibly, 1997*b*; Day & Rowe, 2002). In fact, life-history optimality models commonly predict that faster growth would favour animals growing to a larger size, and this is also generally

observed when growth rates are experimentally manipulated by altering food quantity or quality (Kindlmann, Dixon, & Dostalkova, 2001; Diamond & Kingsolver, 2010; Yasuda *et al.*, 2016). However, warming-induced reductions in body size are pervasive (Daufresne, Lengfellner, & Sommer, 2009)



Fig 1. Thermal responses in body size (A) and growth rate (B). Responses are indicated for warm (red lines) and cold (blue lines) conditions. Arrows in B indicate that effects of warming are contingent on body size (and hence on time during ontogeny), stimulating growth during small, early life stages (upward arrow), but reducing growth in later, larger life stages (downward arrow). Note that this is a simplified schematic and in reality, the temperature–size rule (TSR) may progress irregularly over ontogeny (see Forster, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2011; Horne *et al.*, 2019).

and have been termed the third universal response to warming (Gardner et al., 2011); the first and second universal responses to warming being directed dispersal in space (range shifts) and in time (phenological shifts). Clines in body size are observed across thermal geographic gradients (e.g. latitude or altitude), where small body size is typically associated with warmer conditions (low latitude or altitude) and such clines are referred to as Bergmann's rule for differences among closely related species, and as James' rule for differences among populations of the same species. The TSR is restricted to phenotypically plastic effects that arise during ontogeny, setting it apart from James' and Bergmann's rules, which can include ecological and evolutionary body size responses to temperature and associated climatic factors over longer timescales [see Watt, Mitchell, & Salewski, 2010 and Pincheira-Donoso, 2010 for indepth discussions on James' rule and Bergmann's rule and their applicability to ectotherms].

There is great interest in solving the life-history puzzle of the TSR, not least because more than 99.9% of all species are ectotherms. Previous research on the TSR has focussed on whether there is a general mechanism to explain the TSR and whether the TSR is adaptive. Although the idea of a general explanation makes intuitive sense when confronted with a pattern that is so pervasive, a simple, general explanation has not yet emerged. The finding that size reductions with warming can be achieved at different levels of organization and stages of ontogeny, and by different mechanisms (e.g. thermal responses in cell size, offspring size, differences in thermal sensitivity of growth rate and development rate), has in itself been used to argue that the TSR is adaptive (Atkinson, 1994; Forster & Hirst, 2012). In addition, similar directions of plastic and evolved thermal responses (e.g. both becoming smaller in the warm), and of latitudinal versus plastic responses, suggest that the TSR is likely to be adaptive (Partridge et al., 1994; Kingsolver & Huey, 2008; Horne, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2015). To understand the complex nature of thermal adaptation and the TSR better, Angilletta & Dunham (2003) advocated a multivariate approach with greater emphasis on the ecological context in which life histories evolve within physiological constraints set by their body plan. Similarly to a recent review we highlight the role of oxygen (Audzijonyte et al., 2019), but we here emphasize not just temperature-size (T-S) responses induced by oxygen limitation but also how T-S responses can have evolved to avoid such limitation. Additionally, we adopt a broader focus beyond aquatic ectotherms to include terrestrial ectotherms. We first describe what constitutes the TSR. Next, we summarize the observed variation in the strength of the T-S response across groups of organisms. We then proceed to discuss how T-S responses can arise from thermal influences on growth and development rates, and the adaptive value of maturing at a certain size and age (Table 1). Past reviews have focussed on whether a species follows the rule or not (Shelomi, 2012; see also Blanckenhorn & Demont, 2004), but we consider that quantifying differences in the strength of the T-S response across groups of organisms will more likely reveal the relative contributions of different explanations for T-S responses.

Understanding the causes of variation in the magnitude of T–S responses may lead to a more complete explanation of why a reduction in body size with warming (the TSR) is especially prevalent. We conclude this review by suggesting research that would best advance our knowledge of temperature effects on body size.

II. THE NATURE OF THE TSR

The TSR in its simplest form describes how ectotherms develop to a smaller size for a given stage, especially late in ontogeny (e.g. size at maturity), when reared under warmer conditions. Size-at-stage results from the interplay between the rate of growth and the length of the period spent growing, and therefore a faster growth to a smaller size in the warm (i.e. the TSR) arises logically from warming stimulating development rate more than growth rate. Body size responses to temperature vary both in strength and sign (i.e. increases or decreases) across species. Consequently, the field has moved to a more quantitative approach examining the magnitude and direction of size responses to temperature (e.g. Forster, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2012) rather than adopting a binary classification of whether a species is smaller or larger at a given ontogenetic stage when reared in warmer conditions. In addition, most of the literature focuses on size at maturity, but for organisms with indeterminate growth, T-S responses can differ between size at maturity and asymptotic size, suggesting that different mechanisms are involved (Hoefnagel et al., 2018). T-S responses of eggs are also somewhat different (weaker) than those for size at maturity (Atkinson *et al.*, 2001). The T–S response can change as animals proceed through ontogeny, but in a discontinuous fashion, being more pronounced in certain larval instars than others (Forster, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2011; Forster & Hirst, 2012; Horne et al., 2019). TSR patterns may arise not only during ontogeny, but also across sequential generations, which develop at different temperatures in seasonal environments (e.g. summer and winter generations in the field) (Horne, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2017). Moreover, such T-S responses may also be observed across populations of a species, with latitudinal clines in adult body size also broadly matching plastic body-size responses to rearing temperatures (Horne et al., 2015). Size reductions in response to warming are also evident across species within whole communities (Daufresne et al., 2009). Although the mechanisms generating T-S patterns within and across species could be different, the overall trends do indicate a size-based filtering that favours smaller species and/or younger ages, as has been observed along a latitudinal thermal cline (Zeuss, Brunzel, & Brandl, 2017) and along a thermal gradient associated with urbanization (Merckx et al., 2018). This review focuses on plastic body-size responses to temperature. However, given the concordance between the TSR, James' rule and Bergmann's rule, we also discuss explanations with an ecological and evolutionary basis, where temperature is involved only Table 1. Overview of the different mechanisms, grouped into mechanistic and evolutionary explanations. See text for further details

Explanations	Further reading	
Mechanistic (proximate) explanations		
Animals grow faster but develop even faster in warm conditions		
 Different thermal sensitivity of DNA replication versus protein synthesis: DNA replication (limited by enzyme kinetics) is more sensitive to temperature than protein synthesis (limited by diffusion) 	Section IV.1	
 At high temperatures or low oxygen, animals may preferentially allocate resources towards development and away from growth 	Section IV.5	
 Thermal sensitivity of growth may be reduced to prevent oxygen limitation, whereas thermal sensitivity of development may depend on genome size 	Sections IV.1, IV.3 and IV.7; Fig. 4	
Larger requirements for resources (food, oxygen) in warmer conditions prevent animals from growing large	er	
 Different thermal sensitivity of catabolism and anabolism: growth efficiency is lower in warmer conditions 	Section IV.3	
 Different thermal sensitivity of size-dependent changes in catabolism and anabolism: decline in growth efficiency with size is amplified in warmer conditions, resulting in a lower growth efficiency in warmer conditions for large (but not small) individuals 	Section IV.3	
 Insufficient capacity to extract oxygen constrains animals from growing larger, even more so under warm conditions 	Section IV.2	
Animals consist of smaller cells in warm conditions		
 A large genome (resulting in a larger cell size) with multiple copies ensures sufficient enzyme activity in cold conditions 	Section IV.7	
 Smaller cells have more membrane surface area relative to their volume supporting a greater capacity for oxygen transport in warm conditions 	Section IV.7	
 The ratio between oxygen supply and demand may function as a threshold for cell growth, thus regulating cell size and possibly the critical size observed in insects 	Section IV.7	
Evolutionary (ultimate) explanations		
It becomes more advantageous to grow larger in cold conditions because of reduced mortality		
 Senescence and mortality are greater in warmer environments, favouring early maturation (at a smaller size) 	Sections V.1 and V.3	
It becomes more advantageous to grow larger in cold conditions because of gains in fecundity		
– Fecundity may increases more strongly with body size in cold conditions, favouring large size It becomes more advantageous to grow larger in cold conditions because of resource limitations	Sections V.1 and V.3	
– Selection for starvation resistance typical for larger animals is stronger in cool conditions	Sections V.2 and V.3	
It becomes more advantageous to produce an additional generation rather than growing to a larger size in growing populations		
- Faster maturity (at a smaller size) allows for completion of an additional generation in multivoltine	Section VI.1; Fig. 5.	
The 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past' has led to the evolution of thermal reaction norms for adult size that ar and oxygen conditions experienced by ancestors	re anticipatory to temperature	
 Past occurrences of oxygen limitation have selected for a canalized response with smaller sizes under warmer conditions as a compensatory response to safeguard sufficient oxygen provisioning 	Sections IV.2, VI.3 and VI.4	

indirectly (e.g. as a cue for seasonal progression and for time remaining to complete development).

warmer conditions as a compensatory response to safeguard sufficient oxygen provisioning

needs to incorporate interactions between time, temperature and body size.

Finally, the TSR is only a puzzle when evaluated under benign conditions, including non-stressful temperatures and non-limiting resource supply (Atkinson, 1994; Walczyńska, Kiełbasa, & Sobczyk, 2016). For example, when high temperatures impair growth, rather than stimulate it, life-history theory predicts animals to mature at a smaller size. Similarly, when warming alleviates cold, stressful temperatures, it may result in animals growing to a larger body size (Forster, Hirst, & Woodward, 2011). Ectotherms that follow the TSR, grow faster but to a smaller size in warmer conditions. Therefore, effects of temperature on growth differ throughout ontogeny: at earlier or smaller life stages temperature stimulates growth while at later or larger life stages temperature reduces growth (Fig. 1B). Thus, understanding the effects of temperature on size

III. PATTERNS IN T-S RESPONSES

(1) T-S responses due to phenotypic plasticity

Although adult body size is usually reduced under warmer rearing conditions (i.e. following the TSR), we will also describe the substantial variation in responses across different taxa and environments (terrestrial, aquatic). Taking a metaanalytical perspective, Horne et al. (2015) extended the work of Forster et al. (2012) and Klok & Harrison (2013), to find distinct patterns in the extent to which body size responds to temperature across taxonomic groups of arthropod species. A primary finding was that T-S responses became more



Fig 2. Temperature–size (T–S) responses (% change in body mass per °C) for terrestrial (black circles), freshwater (grey triangles) and marine (white triangles) arthropod species, plotted against their dry mass (standardized to 20°C) With increasing body mass, T–S responses became more negative in aquatic arthropods (dashed line; $F_{1,43} = 5.40$, P = 0.02, $r^2 = 0.09$), but in terrestrial arthropods they became more positive (solid line; $F_{1,69} = 9.28$, P = 0.003, $r^2 = 0.11$). Figure reprinted from Horne *et al.* (2015) with permission from John Wiley & Sons Ltd/CNRS.

negative (stronger TSR) in aquatic arthropods with increasing body size (Fig. 2). In terrestrial arthropods, this pattern with body size appeared to be reversed. However, body size and voltinism (i.e. the number of generations of an organism in a year) tend to co-vary (univoltine species, with one generation per year, are typically larger than multivoltine species, which have more than one generation per year). In terrestrial arthropods, voltinism has been found to be a stronger predictor than body size, with univoltine species often displaying the reverse T–S response, such that they commonly mature at a larger size in the warm. Thus, within aquatic arthropods, the T–S response appears to become stronger with increasing body size, whereas within terrestrial arthropods the opposite pattern is found, with the T–S response weakening and eventually reversing with increasing body size (Fig. 2).

(2) T–S responses across populations, species and communities

Horne *et al.* (2015) report a concordance between phenotypically plastic size responses to temperature (the TSR) and latitudinal clines in body size (i.e. James' rule). Obviously, latitudinal size clines could be related to various factors other than temperature, which also co-vary with latitude (e.g. duration of growth season, day length, food availability, potential evapotranspiration, and thermal fluctuations), and the mechanisms could likewise differ as they apply to differences across populations. For example, dispersal could obscure spatial relationships between environmental temperature and body size (Horne, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2018), as has been suggested for altitudinal clines in body size within several species of grasshoppers differing in dispersal potential (Levy & Nufio, 2015) and latitudinal clines across dytiscid beetle species (Pallarés *et al.*, 2019). Still, the correspondence noted by Horne *et al.* (2015) suggests that these body-size responses across individuals, populations and species may share at least some of the same temperature-related drivers. This makes it informative to compare T–S responses at the population and species level across aquatic and terrestrial groups of different body size.

Makarieva, Gorshkov, & Li (2005) showed that the largest terrestrial ectotherm species tend to live in the warm tropics. By contrast, in a variety of animal groups, aquatic species of gigantic proportions have been documented in cold, polar regions (Moran & Woods, 2012). These contrasting geographical trends in maximum body size can be seen as a special case of the more general pattern in which T-S responses across latitudinal clines become increasingly negative in larger-bodied taxa in aquatic but not terrestrial habitats. Similarly, among aquatic amphipod communities, stronger T-S responses were observed for the largest species (a sixfold change), while changes in median body size were less pronounced (2.6-fold change) (Chapelle & Peck, 2004). In summary, the pattern of intraspecific T-S responses becoming stronger with increasing body size in water but not on land is also observed across species and across communities. This concordance across ecological levels of organization could be a coincidence or could reflect similar drivers and constraints.

IV. THE DEPENDENCY OF T–S RESPONSES ON GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT

(1) Growth and development rates have different thermal sensitivities

Differences in thermal sensitivity of growth and development rates give rise to T-S responses (Forster, Hirst, & Woodward, 2011; Banas & Campbell, 2016; Hoefnagel et al., 2018), and many explanations therefore focus on explaining differences in the thermal sensitivity of growth and development (Table 1). Instead of differences in their thermal dependency, Walters & Hassall (2006) argued for a focus on differences between the minimum threshold temperature for growth and that for development (i.e. the temperature below which growth and development are arrested). Indeed, when growth and development rates change linearly with temperature, a decrease in the ratio between growth rate and development rate with warming is equivalent to a greater threshold temperature for development rate than for growth rate. However, different threshold temperatures for growth and development are not a necessary condition for T-S responses to arise when thermal dependencies are non-linear (e.g. Forster, Hirst, & Woodward, 2011; see also Kutcherov, Lopatina, & Kipyatkov, 2011; Sweeney et al., 2018).

Van der Have & de Jong (1996) suggested that protein synthesis, involved in both cell and organism growth, is limited by relatively temperature-insensitive diffusion of heavy ribosomal sub-units, and that DNA replication - central to cell division, differentiation, and rate of organismal development towards maturity - is instead limited by the more thermally sensitive rates of DNA polymerase activity. Consequently, they argued that DNA replication (related to differentiation) is more temperature sensitive than protein synthesis (related to growth), thereby linking whole-organism growth and development to the kinetics of individual enzymes. This mechanism may contribute to producing negative T-S responses. However, given the extant variation in the strength of the T–S response across different groups of taxa and during ontogeny (see Section III) differences in thermal sensitivity can be modulated (see also Section IV.2). Modulation of the thermal sensitivity of growth and development is perhaps most obvious in unicells (with binary division). Since the offspring size is half that of the parent cell, the ratio between specific growth rates and development rates equals 2 or they would increase or decrease in body size ad infinitum. Hence, they can only achieve a T-S response if temperature shifts the ratio between growth rates and development rates away from 2 temporarily (Forster, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2011; Forster, Hirst, & Esteban, 2013). Thus, a greater thermal sensitivity of development rate relative to growth rate may arise partly because of differences in kinetics of DNA replication and protein synthesis, but other additional explanations are required to explain the variation in T-S responses.

(2) Are there insurmountable constraints on growth?

Debates continue on whether or not growth rate is increasingly constrained during ontogeny, and if so, whether or not warmer temperature increases these constraints, leading to smaller size at maturity or final size (Pauly, 1998; Lefevre, McKenzie, & Nilsson, 2017; Pauly & Cheung, 2018; Audzijonyte et al., 2019). The debated constraint is geometric, based on reductions in the surface area to volume ratio as size increases, which has been called a 'dimensional tension' by Pauly & Cheung (2018). The diminishing ratio of surface area to volume has been argued to result in resource limitation - food limitation owing to insufficient area of the digestive tract, or oxygen limitation owing to insufficient area of respiratory surfaces (Kooijman, 2010; Pauly, 2010). Oxygen limitation has been emphasized in aquatic species, which can expend non-trivial proportions of their energy budget obtaining oxygen (Von Bertalanffy, 1960; Pauly, 2019). This geometric constraint is used to explain growth deceleration during ontogeny up until maximum size where growth is no longer possible. At this point, the supply of resources available for growth and other routine metabolism [upper line at each temperature in Fig. 3A, corresponding to 'anabolism' of Von Bertalanffy, 1960 and assimilation of Kooijman, 2010] has converged with the line representing non-growth or 'maintenance' resource demand [lower line at each

temperature in Fig. 3A, corresponding to 'catabolism' of Von Bertalanffy, 1960]. Added to the dimensional tension is the idea that resource uptake has a rate-limiting step that is less sensitive to temperature (e.g. diffusion) than is resource demand (e.g. rate of enzymatic reactions). Consequently, maximum resource supply increases relatively little as temperatures rises (from blue to red), compared with the greater increase of maintenance costs. Oxygen diffusion in water is relatively temperature insensitive, accelerating only by about 10% with 10°C warming (Verberk et al., 2011), contrasting with the approximate doubling of metabolic rate (Seebacher, White, & Franklin, 2015). However, the uptake of food resources is less likely to be widely thermally insensitive, varying with feeding mode (Dell, Pawar, & Savage, 2014) and how temperature affects food availability (i.e. the balance of food production to consumption).

Constraints on oxygen supply have been described as 'insurmountable' (Pauly, 1998; Lefevre et al., 2017) or 'uncircumventable' (Pauly & Cheung, 2018). Yet they are not completely insurmountable. Organisms have evolved the capacity to: (i) increase surface area for resource uptake during growth, such as by changing body shape (Hirst, Glazier, & Atkinson, 2014; Glazier, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2015) or increasing the size of uptake organs (Antol et al., 2020) or their surfaces (gill re-modelling; Nilsson, Dymowska, & Stecyk, 2012); (ii) increase rates at which they obtain and distribute resources (e.g. by increasing feeding activity or by active ventilation and circulation; Woods & Moran, 2020); and (iii) reduce rates of demand for resources (e.g. less locomotion, or lower mitochondrial density). These adjustments to the rate of resource uptake and demand reduce the likelihood that the constraints will be observed directly in controlled laboratory studies of the TSR, which provide abundant food, levels of oxygen availability typical for the species, non-extreme ('physiological range') temperatures and an absence of predators and disease. Even in the field, such constraints may be observed only occasionally. On the other hand, overcoming or avoiding these physical constraints is unlikely to be cost-free. Thus, organisms may have adapted so that they are not 'panting for breath' during normal growth, but could nonetheless experience resource limitation under more demanding conditions (e.g. when pursued by predators or encountering pathogens). Although such demanding conditions may be rare, they are also disproportionately detrimental. Organisms should therefore maintain a safety margin (e.g. aerobic scope) to prevent resource limitation of growth and reduction in fitness, exemplified by the maintain aerobic scope and regulate oxygen supply (MASROS) model, in which size is adjusted to maintain sufficient oxygen supply relative to demand (Atkinson, Morley, & Hughes, 2006; Fig. 3B). Selection to avoid resource limitation may favour adaptive modulation of growth in response to temperature especially when temperature is a reliable cue (i.e. temperature has correlated with fitness benefits from developing faster or maturing at a smaller size during the population's evolutionary history). This adaptive response to avoid resource limitation or other harm represents an important conceptual distinction. Instead of direct constraints on growth, we here emphasize the evolution



Log body mass

Fig 3. Role of constraints in the von Bertalanffy/Pauly model (A) and the maintain aerobic scope and regulate oxygen supply (MASROS) model (B–D). In A, constraints on growing to a larger size are considered to be insurmountable, arising from geometric constraints on gill surface area scaling, and growth ceases when maintenance metabolism converges to supply capacity. Maintenance is here considered to fuel essential processes such as maintenance of electrochemical gradients, protein synthesis, and repair. In the MASROS model, animals still have aerobic scope left when reaching maximum size, which is considered to be a safety margin when animals face demanding but transient conditions (e.g. disease, episodes of hypoxia, predator attack, and possibly part of reproduction). Aerobic scope not reserved for the safety margin (in white) can be used to fuel growth and other routine activities (e.g. activity, digestion and possibly part of reproduction). Evolution is thus assumed to have modified growth trajectories to avoid oxygen limitation. Growth trajectories can be modulated by adaptive changes in the scaling of standard metabolic rate (SMR), maximum metabolic rate (MMR) or the width of the safety margin for aerobic scope. Warm conditions (shown in red), may lead to growth to a smaller size if the thermal sensitivity of maintenance (SMR) is higher than that of supply (MMR). This size decrease could be partly compensated for by allowing a reduction in the safety margin (panel D). Note that the slopes of the lines (i.e. the scaling exponents) can also vary with temperature, but are here kept constant for reasons of clarity.

of adaptive reaction norms in which growth responds to temperature as a cue to avoid harm.

Evolutionary adjustments (double-headed arrows in Fig. 3B) can be made to resource uptake capacity (upper boundary of safety margin), to the size of the safety margin (height of green shaded area at different body sizes), and to the amount of other non-growth investment, sometimes referred to as 'maintenance' (height of orange shaded area at different body sizes). All of these can shape the resulting growth trajectories. Thermal responses in growth trajectories are the evolutionary outcome that temperature has had on

these factors (Fig. 3C and D). This adaptive perspective should also be applicable to other potential constraints affecting the evolution of the TSR (e.g. temperature-dependent uptake of food resources, whose safety margin is set by extra feeding and assimilation capacity and by the amount of stored reserves; or by viscosity affecting oxygen supply; Verberk & Atkinson, 2013). In summary, simultaneous adaptive modulation of growth, maintenance and a safety margin reflects the evolutionary effects of past size- and temperature-dependent constraints on resource availability and other selection pressures. Evolved plastic responses of



Fig 4. Overview of influences on growth rate (G) and development rate (D) responses to temperature, and hence their ratio and the temperature–size response. TSR, temperature–size rule. Temperature stimulates both growth rate and development rate, but the relative increase may be modulated by effects of cell size, genome size, body size, life cycle, thermoregulatory behaviour and mode of respiration. Oxygen limitation is more likely in large aquatic ectotherms with large cells, and could constrain the stimulating effects of temperature on growth rate. Consequently, animal development outpaces growth under warmer conditions, resulting in a decrease in body size (purple pathway). A large genome size may be associated with a lower thermal sensitivity of development. Consequently, development does not outpace growth under warmer conditions and the faster growth results in larger body sizes (green pathway). Due to the strong linkage between genome size and cell size, both mechanisms will operate in tandem, but the relative importance of these mechanisms may differ among animals, depending on their characteristics.

growth to temperature can mitigate current or predictable future resource limitations, thereby avoiding constraints on whole-organism growth. Adaptive modulation of growth trajectories likely also integrates other fitness-enhancing activities such as reproductive development or reproduction, leading to a deceleration of growth with increasing body size (Kozłowski, Czarnołęski, & Danko, 2004; Kooijman, 2010; Marshall & White, 2019).

(3) Thermal responses in growth rate

In order to grow, organisms need resources such as food and oxygen, which together shape the energy budget of an organism. Changes in the energy budgets and energy allocation with temperature have been used to explain the TSR (e.g. Pauly, 2010; see Section IV.2). Much of this work can be traced back to the work of Von Bertalanffy (1960) and Pütter (1920) who noted that somatic growth must be equal to the difference between anabolism and catabolism, although part of the energy surplus must also be allocated to reproductive growth (Kozłowski et al., 2004; Marshall & White, 2019). If catabolism increases relative to anabolism with increasing body mass, a decrease in body size with warming could then arise when temperature stimulates catabolism more than anabolism (Von Bertalanffy, 1960) or when temperature stimulates resource demand more than supply (DeLong, 2012; Fig. 3A). Angilletta & Dunham (2003) argued that while warming could increase absolute growth rates, warming must also, according to von Bertalanffy's growth model, reduce net growth efficiency (expressed as

the percentage of biomass produced relative to total energy absorbed), as relatively more energy is spent on catabolism with warming. However, their analysis of published data on growth efficiency did not find the expected decrease in net growth efficiency with warming. A potential resolution to this problem is that the thermal dependency of net growth efficiency is itself size dependent. Consequently, the decline in growth rates and growth efficiency observed with increasing size should be more pronounced under high temperatures (e.g. Perrin, 1988; Panov & McOueen, 1998; Kozłowski et al., 2004; Hoefnagel et al., 2018). It has been suggested that larger organisms have smaller net energy balances in warm conditions because oxygen demand increases with temperarelative to oxygen supply (Pedersen, ture 1987: Pörtner, 2001; Pauly, 2010; Verberk et al., 2011; Verberk & Atkinson, 2013). However, whether the decline in growth rates and growth efficiency with increasing size is constrained by resource limitation is still debated (see Section IV.2). A role for oxygen in generating the TSR may explain the stronger T-S responses observed in aquatic taxa compared to terrestrial taxa (Forster et al., 2012; Horne et al., 2015; Rollinson & Rowe, 2018), owing to the greater challenges of breathing underwater (lower diffusion rates, larger costs of ventilation) (Dejours, 1981; Verberk et al., 2011; Verberk & Atkinson, 2013). Few studies have tested interactive effects of oxygen and temperature on growth and size at stage, but the few that have demonstrate that T-S responses depend on oxygen conditions in aquatic isopods (Hoefnagel & Verberk, 2015), and in air-breathing fruit flies (Frazier, Woods, & Harrison, 2001). Size reductions with warming



Fig 5. Schematic overview of different temperature-size (T–S) responses in relation to voltinism. T–S responses may depend on the interaction between the length of the growing season (green box) and the development time (brown arrow), especially in (terrestrial) organisms living in habitats with strong end-of season constraints. For univoltine species, warming may allow animals to grow faster during their (fixed) development time, resulting in animals reaching a larger size (A), unless time for development is also reduced under warmer conditions (B). Warming may also allow animals to fit more generations into a certain amount of time, either by increasing the number of generations (C; multivoltine species) or by decreasing the number of years needed for completion (D; semivoltine species). A faster development can result in animals growing to a smaller size under warmer conditions when viewed across the whole thermal gradient (dashed black line). However, shifts in voltinism may result in a sawtooth pattern, with animals growing to a larger size with warming (solid black line), until there is an increase in voltinism at which point animals reach a smaller size (due to less time available for growth in a given generation, dotted grey line). Such shifts in voltinism and the resulting sawtooth patterns are most readily seen in latitudinal clines.

were more pronounced under hypoxia and less pronounced - or reversed – under normoxia and hyperoxia. This suggests either a direct role of oxygen in generating the TSR (i.e. the strongest T-S response is observed under conditions where resource limitation is most likely), or that oxygen limitation has acted as a selection pressure on growth trajectories, and animals use temperature and oxygen conditions as cues to modulate growth. Given that effects of hyperoxia are much weaker (but usually opposite) to those of hypoxia, oxygen limitation as a selection pressure on growth seems more likely. Indeed, direct evidence that individuals become more prone to warming-induced oxygen limitation as they grow larger is scarce, and may differ between aquatic ectotherms (e.g. fish) and terrestrial ectotherms (e.g. insects), as the costs of increasing oxygen uptake are greater in water than in air (Verberk & Atkinson, 2013; Verberk & Bilton, 2013).

Fish appear to adhere to the TSR (see Section IV.4), but size dependency of oxygen supply capacity in fish has been debated (see Section IV.2). Since fish can dynamically alter their gill surface area, it is unlikely that constraints are completely insurmountable, but gill proliferation also carries costs, such as the cost of maintaining ion homeostasis and

water transport, increased exposure to toxic substances in the water, and increased risk of disease and parasitism (Nilsson et al., 2012; Audzijonyte et al., 2019). Since excessive oxygen itself is toxic, the act of balancing toxicity and asphyxiation risks may also directly reduce performance of animals with an excess capacity for oxygen uptake (Verberk & Atkinson, 2013). To explain the TSR from an oxygenlimitation perspective, these costs and benefits of altering capacity for oxygen uptake must be size and temperature dependent. Most studies focus on two-way interactions, rather than the three-way interaction between size, temperature and oxygen (Woods & Moran, 2020). Boundary layers at the gill surface affect uptake capacity in such a size- and temperature-dependent manner; they result from viscosity and impede oxygen diffusion, especially in colder, more viscous water, and smaller animals are disproportionately affected (Verberk & Atkinson, 2013). Consequently, larger individual fish in warmer waters could have a lower aerobic scope or a higher sensitivity to oxygen limitation (J.G. Rubalcaba, W.C.E.P. Verberk, A.J. Hendriks, B. Saris & H.A. Woods, in preparation). There is also evidence that larger individuals are more prone to oxygen limitation in some fish species (Burleson, Wilhelm, & Smatresk, 2001; Robb & Abrahams, 2003; Reid *et al.*, 2013), but it is difficult to generalize this to all fish, given the many different strategies for coping with hypoxia (Chapman & McKenzie, 2009). Indeed, fish may deal with hypoxic stress in a size-dependent manner, with larger animals relying more on anaerobic metabolism (Goolish, 1989; Urbina & Glover, 2013; Lv *et al.*, 2018). On the relatively short timescales typical for hypoxia-tolerance assays, larger fish could supplement their energy needs with anaerobic metabolism; on longer timescales of growth and development, a lower aerobic

scope of larger fish in warm waters could reduce growth. This

is an area in need of more empirical data. In terrestrial ectotherms such as many insect species, evidence that risks of oxygen limitation increase as they grow larger is scarce, possibly because animals can compensate in a range of ways (e.g. by increasing capacity for ventilation and circulation; see Harrison, Greenlee, & Verberk, 2018). In the grasshopper Schistocerca americana, hypoxia sensitivity (used here as a proxy for risks of oxygen limitation) was highest in the youngest instars which lack air sacs and rely more on diffusive gas exchange (Greenlee & Harrison, 2004). Larger individuals tend to employ convective gas exchange, which could explain their lower sensitivity to hypoxia. Also across species, there is little evidence for size dependency of hypoxia sensitivity. For example, Harrison, Klok, & Waters (2014) found the critical oxygen partial pressure (pO2) for metabolism to be independent of adult body size across a range of insect species. Larger species likely prevent progressive oxygen limitation with increasing body size by having greatly increased tracheal dimensions and these do appear to set upper limits to the size that insects may attain (Kaiser et al., 2007). In cases where oxygen limitation is less of a constraint on growth, patterns of larger species at higher temperatures have been explained by the need to maintain metabolism (expressed per gram of body tissue) within an optimal range, as increasing body size reduces metabolism, counteracting the increased metabolism associated with higher temperatures (Makarieva et al., 2005). In summary, in terrestrial ectotherms, several reasons may explain why sensitivity to low oxygen is decoupled from size, although upper size limits may still be set by limits to tracheal expansion.

If larger aquatic species are indeed more challenged to provision their tissues with adequate oxygen to maintain sufficient aerobic scope (see also Section IV.2), this would provide an explanation for stronger T–S responses with increasing body size in these taxa (Fig. 2; see also Section IV.4). Similarly, if larger terrestrial species are less challenged by oxygen limitation because of increased reliance on convective transport, this could also explain why T–S responses weaken and then reverse with increasing species body size in terrestrial arthropods (Fig. 2; Klok & Harrison, 2013).

(4) Fish and the temperature-size rule

Fish have been documented to adhere to the TSR (e.g. Trexler, Travis, & Trexler, 1990; Dhillon & Fox, 2004; Loisel, Isla, & Daufresne, 2019), and thermal clines in the field

are often related to size clines (Daufresne *et al.*, 2009; Baudron *et al.*, 2014; Van Rijn *et al.*, 2017; Moffett *et al.*, 2018; but see Belk & Houston, 2002). Latitudinal clines in fish body size have also been documented, but other factors may play a role here. For instance, larger fish may have a greater capacity to disperse to higher latitudes (Weber *et al.*, 2015), increased mortality in warmer areas may select for individuals to mature faster at a smaller size (Heibo, Magnhagen, & Vøllestad, 2005), and warming may produce opposite effects in species with contrasting thermal niches (Rypel, 2014). Moreover, fishing pressure may greatly affect size distributions in the field, confounding, blurring or strengthening patterns in body size related to temperature (Cheung *et al.*, 2013; Tu, Chen, & Hsieh, 2018).

Clearly, the existence of large species living in warm tropical waters indicates evolutionary capacity to overcome constraints on growth to a large size. Hence, these constraints are not insurmountable from an evolutionary perspective (see Section IV.2). Instead, adaptive evolution can enhance the capacity to supply oxygen depending on the lifestyle (Seibel & Deutsch, 2020). Different adaptations can enhance oxygen supply such as planktonic feeding with greatly enlarged gills (e.g. whale shark), ram ventilation (e.g. tuna, marlin) or adopting a sluggish lifestyle as adults (groupers). While large fish species such as those mentioned above can clearly live in warmer waters (an interspecific pattern), it is unknown whether they will show a stronger T-S response (an intraspecific pattern). They could grow larger still when reared under colder conditions, but such experiments would be logistically challenging: consequently, T-S responses for size at maturity are recorded only up to the size of small fish or large insects. A major issue is therefore predicting the extent to which strengthening T-S responses with species body size in aquatic ectotherms will extend further to include commercial fish and aquaculture species. A recent study indicated that responses in mean fish size to temperature were weakening and reversing towards larger sizes (Audzijonyte et al., 2020), although it is unclear how results on mean size relate to size at stage (e.g. maturity or maximum). Concordant with a role for oxygen, Van Rijn et al. (2017) focussing on maximum size in the field, found greater T-S responses in more active fish species. It is challenging, however, to isolate effects of temperature on body size in field data where responses could also reflect (size-dependent) species interactions, dispersal, differences in productivity and length of the growing season. Therefore, rearing experiments under controlled conditions should help us understand physiological mechanisms better (Edeline et al., 2013; Ohlberger, 2013; Knouft, 2014).

(5) Thermal responses in development rate

Effects of oxygen and food are not limited to growth rate, but may also act on development (Table 1). Callier & Nijhout (2011) showed that in growing caterpillars of *Manduca sexta*, the decision to moult or pupate is size and oxygen dependent. As animals increase their body mass, their demand for oxygen also increases, but since the tracheal system can only be enlarged upon moulting they cannot correspondingly increase the capacity for oxygen supply. Such low capacity for oxygen supply relative to demand triggers the endocrine cascade that advances development (see also Callier *et al.*, 2013; Kivelä *et al.*, 2018). Greenberg & Ar (1996) found that the mealworm beetle (*Tenebrio molitor*) developed into smaller adults when reared under hypoxia, but more than doubled the number of moults to get there compared to normoxia. Under hyperoxia there were fewer moults, supporting the idea that oxygen availability directly influences developmental processes.

External resource conditions, such as environmental hypoxia or food conditions, appear to affect development less compared to their effects on growth rates. Development rate is generally more sensitive to temperature than growth rate, and this temperature dependence also appears to vary less across ontogeny (e.g. Horne et al., 2019). In addition, stimulating effects of temperature on growth seemed to level off with increasing temperature (De Block & Stoks, 2003) and increasing body size during ontogeny (Forster et al., 2012), which suggested resource limitation (or responses to avoid it; see Section IV.2) under these conditions. By contrast, thermal effects on development did not suggest resource limitation or its avoidance. Changes in development rates across populations occupying different positions along a latitudinal or altitudinal cline suggest adaptive modulations of development. Substantial counter-gradient variation in development rate has been reported across latitudinal and altitudinal clines (e.g. faster development of high-latitude populations), likely as an adaptation to the shorter growing season at high altitudes and latitudes (Ayres & Scriber, 1994; Dingle & Mousseau, 1994; Chown & Klok, 2003; Blanckenhorn & Demont, 2004; Berner & Blanckenhorn, 2006; Kivelä et al., 2011; Parson & Joern, 2014; Buckley et al., 2015). Cogradient variation in development rate has also been reported, but again to resolve time limitations (i.e. faster development in warmer, but ephemeral habitats) (Dittrich et al., 2016). Heliotherms prefer and reach high operative body temperatures via basking. This could select for a reduced development rate, or a lower thermal sensitivity of development which avoids leaving insufficient time for completing growth in terms of mass, thus explaining converse TSR in heliotherms (see Section IV.6). In summary, responses of development rate to temperature appear to be adapted to duration of the growing season. Compared to growth, development is relatively insensitive to availability of environmental resources.

(6) Are grasshoppers an exception to the temperature-size rule?

A notable exception to the near-universal pattern of size reductions with warming are the grasshoppers. Grasshoppers could be less inclined to follow the TSR for several reasons.

First, oxygen may be less limiting in larger terrestrial arthropods such as grasshoppers, because gas exchange in their tracheal network relies more on convection (Greenlee & Harrison, 2004). This could at least partially explain why they differ from aquatic counterparts, but is unlikely to be the complete reason, as plenty of large tracheated arthropods do follow the TSR.

Second, grasshoppers are heliotherms and have a high preferred body temperature, sometimes as high as 38°C (Miller et al., 2009). Heliotherms will likely also experience larger variations in body temperature than other ectotherms. Under widely fluctuating temperatures, the realized thermal performance curve for growth is different from the thermal performance curve under constant temperatures due to Jensen's inequality (Denny, 2017), reaching peak performance at a lower temperature. To compensate, heliotherms likely have a thermal performance curve with a peak shifted to higher temperatures and since most TSR rearing experiments employ constant temperatures, the higher rearing temperatures will strongly stimulate growth as they are unlikely to coincide with limitations for resource supply. In addition to growth being highly responsive to temperature, development may be less responsive to temperature in heliotherms: the operative body temperatures of heliotherms may have frequent excursions into the warmer ranges of their thermal window, and a low thermal sensitivity for development may be required to prevent development from proceeding too rapidly, which would leave little time for the animal to grow. As argued in Section IV.7, a low thermal sensitivity of development rate appears to be associated with larger genomes, and grasshoppers indeed have the largest genome among insects (Alfsnes, Leinaas, & Hessen, 2017). The combination of a high thermal sensitivity for growth rate (at the rearing temperatures employed) and a reduced thermal sensitivity for development rate will make a positive T-S response more likely in grasshoppers and other heliotherms (e.g. lizards).

Grasshoppers may adaptively reverse the TSR for other reasons. First, sun-basking grasshoppers will gain heat rapidly, but heat loss will be equally rapid as they are too small to conserve heat in any significant amount. According to the heat balance model by Olalla-Tárraga & Rodríguez (2007), it could be adaptive to be smaller in colder environments: during the periods of sunshine they can then heat up more rapidly and spend less time in absolute terms on heating up and more time on foraging.

Second, grasshoppers are commonly univoltine owing to an obligatory diapause in their egg stage (Van Wingerden, Musters, & Maaskamp, 1991), making it more profitable to grow larger, as completing an additional generation may not be an option. Larger adult grasshoppers produce proportionately larger egg pods, conferring a fitness advantage to growing larger (Walters & Hassall, 2006). In warmer conditions, avoidance of excessive developmental acceleration would leave sufficient time for the animal to grow to a large and fecund body size (Berner & Blanckenhorn, 2006). In line with this reasoning, Buckley *et al.* (2015) documented that grasshoppers inhabiting high elevations increased their development time over the course of 50 years of climate warming.

(7) Effects of cell and genome size on thermal responses

Changes in body size mostly result from changes in either cell number, cell size, or a combination of these (Calboli, Gilchrist, & Partridge, 2003). As a result, thermal plasticity in body size could reflect changes in cell size (Hessen, Daufresne, & Leinaas, 2013; Table 1). Clearly, changes in cell size mirror changes in body size in eutelic animals, whose number of cells upon reaching adulthood is fixed (e.g. rotifers, most nematodes and some copepods; see McLaren & Marcogliese, 1983; Ruppert, Fox, & Barnes, 2004). However, also in non-eutelic animals, changes in cell size can correlate strongly with T-S responses (Partridge et al., 1994; Van Voorhies, 1996; Arendt, 2007; Hermaniuk, Rybacki, & Taylor, 2016; Leinaas et al., 2016). Strikingly, while food availability generally affects cell number, temperature appears to act mainly via changing cell size (Arendt, 2007; Czarnołęski et al., 2013), although the effects of food and temperature are not completely independent (Padmanabha et al., 2011). Thus T-S responses at the cellular level are also consistent with the contrasting effects of rearing temperature and food conditions on whole-organism size (Berrigan & Charnov, 1994).

Across species or degrees of cell ploidy, cell size appears to be linked to the size of the nucleus, which in turn is linked to genome size, although the causality and its direction are not completely resolved (Gregory, 2001; Cavalier-Smith, 2005; Hessen *et al.*, 2013). Indeed, artificially inducing triploidy in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) resulted in a 50% increase in cell size, resembling the 50% increase in genome size (Van de Pol, Flik, & Verberk, 2020). Studies have found that plastic thermal responses in body size were accompanied by dynamic adjustments in both cell size and nucleus size (by adjusting chromatin packaging) and thus there is scope for cell size also to generate or parallel the TSR during ontogeny (Hermaniuk *et al.*, 2016; Leinaas *et al.*, 2016).

The consequences of cell size are temperature dependent (Szarski, 1983). Protein synthesis rates are naturally slowed down in the cold. Boosted expression of key enzymes to maintain adequate protein synthesis rates at the cellular level may be facilitated by a large genome with multiple gene copies due to gene duplication, or by having uncondensed DNA (Xia, 1995; Hessen et al., 2013). Another potential advantage of larger cells in the cold is to mitigate developmental noise. Finite numbers of molecules [proteins or messenger RNA (mRNA)] introduce stochasticity in developmental pathways whose regulation arising from random interactions of molecules becomes increasingly unpredictable and variable with reduced absolute numbers of molecules (see Woods, 2014). Such stochasticity increases if the number of molecules that participate in a reaction are lower or if the reaction rates are slower. Thus, having larger cells with higher absolute numbers of molecules mitigates the effect of slower reaction rates in the cold. Differences in cell size could also be mechanistically linked to oxygen supply (Woods, 1999; Makarieva et al., 2005; Atkinson et al., 2006). Since diffusion rates of oxygen are greater in lipids, membranes may act as preferential diffusion pathways for oxygen (Subczynski, Hyde, & Kusumi, 1989). Small cells also have more surface area relative to volume, conferring a greater capacity for uptake of oxygen and other resources. Finally, diffusion distances from the cell membrane to the mitochondria in the cytosol are

smaller in small cells. A reduced cell size in warm conditions may thus be part of an adaptive response to improve oxygen provisioning and modulate growth and development. Reductions in cell size might be achieved via oxygen sensing and activation of the HIF (hypoxia-inducible factor) and mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin) regulatory pathways (e.g. Guzy & Schumacker, 2006). In the nematode Caenorhabditis elegans, a mutation in a single gene appeared to control whether animals conformed to the TSR or not (Kammenga et al., 2007). The gene involved encoded a calpain-like protease, which has a high homology with mammalian calpains known to regulate cell size and which can be induced by hypoxia (Cui et al., 2015). An oxygen perspective may therefore apply not just to organism size, but also to a lower, cellular, level of biological organization, whereby a reduced capacity for oxygen uptake may impact the energy budgets of larger cells (Atkinson et al., 2006; Table 1).

The strength and direction of T-S responses could also be related to cell size. If (temperature-induced) risks of oxygen limitation are more likely to arise in tissues made up of large cells, animals with larger cells may be more likely to reduce cell size plastically to improve oxygen provisioning. If variation in cell number is small, such changes in cell size will be reflected in stronger T-S responses in body size. Triploid tadpoles of the frog Pelophylax esculentus were indeed shown to exhibit a stronger T-S response upon metamorphosis compared to diploid tadpoles (Hermaniuk et al., 2016) and also a comparison of fruit flies differing in genome size revealed stronger T-S responses in flies with larger genomes (Ellis et al., 2014). Wyngaard et al. (2005) reported differences in T–S responses across five species of copepods whereby the strongest T-S responses were observed in the species with the largest genome [M. latipes: \sim C-value (the amount, in picograms, of DNA contained within a haploid nucleus) of 4 pg or 3.91×10^9 base pairs], and the weakest T–S responses were observed in the species with the smallest genome (*T. crassus*: ~ 0.8 pg). Horne *et al.* (2016) report differences in T-S responses in which copepods of the order Calanoida $(\sim 4.5 \text{ pg})$ showed a stronger TSR than those of the order Cyclopoida (~ 1 pg). These orders exhibit a significant difference in genome size (and hence probably cell size) [t-test: $P = 1.005 \times 10^{-7}$; calculated from data in Gregory, 2018; see also Wyngaard & Rasch, 2000]. Similarly, aquatic species living in cold environments tend to have larger genomes (Dufresne & Jeffery, 2011; Lorch et al., 2016; Alfsnes et al., 2017; Jeffery, Yampolsky, & Gregory, 2017), suggesting a cell-size parallel with Bergmann's rule, at least for aquatic animals. In general, animals increase body size mainly through cell proliferation during early development, but by cell growth in later life (Kammenga et al., 2007; Czarnołęski et al., 2008, but see Aguilar-Alberola & Mesquita-Joanes,-2014; Horne et al., 2019) and this fits with the TSR being less pronounced for egg size, manifesting itself in later life stages (Forster, Hirst, & Atkinson, 2011; Forster & Hirst, 2012). In summary, there are clear patterns between genome size and the strength of the T–S response, with stronger T–S responses being found in animals with larger cell sizes. Such

patterns suggest a link between cell size and the strength of the TSR.

Genome size is also linked to development rate, with large genomes being associated with slower development in fruit flies (e.g. Gregory & Johnston, 2008), copepods (McLaren, Sevigny, & Corkett, 1988) and anurans (van der Have, 2008). Genome size and development rate are mechanistically linked as DNA replication takes proportionally longer with larger genomes (Van't Hof & Sparrow, 1963), although slow replication of large genomes can be compensated for by increased ribosomal DNA (rDNA) copy number (White & McLaren, 2000; Prokopowich, Gregory, & Crease, 2003). These genomic effects on development rates may be temperature specific (e.g. Ellis et al., 2014), and a lower thermal sensitivity of development has been reported in copepod species with a larger genome (Wyngaard et al., 2005), and in both triploid froglets (Hermaniuk et al., 2016) and polyploid cladocerans (Dufresne & Hebert, 1998; Van Geest et al., 2010) when compared to their diploid counterparts. Whereas a lower thermal sensitivity of development may be beneficial in certain environments (see Section IV.6), several copepods exhibit chromatin diminution during early embryogenesis, possibly as a way to increase development rate by removing the burden of lengthy replication cycles from large genomes. Chromatin diminution results in substantial decreases in nuclear DNA content of the somatic cells (Wyngaard & Rasch, 2000) due to chromosomal fragmentation and excision of large portions of DNA in the presomatic line. Such diminution has also been reported in other eukaryotes (Parfrey, Lahr, & Katz, 2008). In summary, there is evidence that a large genome size reduces development rates and possibly also their thermal sensitivity.

Walczyńska et al. (2015a, 2015b), building on the work of Stelzer (2002), showed that in eutelic rotifers, thermal responses in cell size (and thus body size) followed the TSR. In addition to the absolute temperature, the direction in which temperature changed mattered. When reared at a common temperature of 20°C, differences in cell size depended on the temperatures the mothers had previously experienced during egg development: offspring from mothers that had experienced warmer conditions attained a larger cell size, compared to offspring from mothers that had experienced cooler conditions. Egg size in fruit flies (Crill, Huey, & Gilchrist, 1996) and butterflies (Fisher et al., 2003) was also found to vary in response to the temperature that parents experienced. The importance of parental temperature and the direction of temperature change suggest that parents convey information to their offspring on when to arrest cell growth. Thus, it is unlikely that oxygen or another resource sets absolute or insurmountable limits to the size that a cell can attain (see also Section IV.2); cells will not keep growing to the point at which they will become energy limited due to insufficient resource provisioning. Since conditions experienced by the parents can reasonably be anticipated to resemble the conditions that the offspring will face as well, providing such information may be adaptive. If offspring developed at temperatures cooler than those experienced by the parents, offspring had larger cells and vice versa when temperatures are warmer than parental temperatures (Walczyńska et al., 2015b). Documented responses in body size to temperature and oxygen combinations coincided with higher fecundity, suggesting that they are adaptive (Walczyńska et al., 2015a). Thus, the information bestowed upon the offspring may arrest cell growth when the ratio between oxygen supply and demand falls below a certain threshold. The ratio between oxygen supply and demand is reduced both by an increase in cell size (by reducing oxygen supply) and an increase in temperature (by increasing oxygen demand). Such a threshold ratio may safeguard sufficient oxygen provisioning under warmer conditions (Walczyńska et al., 2015a, 2015b). A similar threshold may govern the critical size in insect development; critical size decreases both under warming (Ghosh, Testa, & Shingleton, 2013) and hypoxia (Callier et al., 2013), while there is also evidence for increased critical size under hyperoxia (Kivelä et al., 2018). Also, when medaka fish (Oryzias latipes) were reared for multiple generations, the smallest size was observed in fish reared under temperatures that were warmer than they had previously experienced (Loisel et al., 2019). A tentative conclusion from the studies reviewed above is that oxygen limitation may take the form of an ultimate driver, whereby animals have evolved plastic, canalized responses geared to avoid oxygen limitation, limiting cell growth to a point with sufficient capacity for oxygen provisioning, a threshold calibrated against the temperatures experienced by adults [see also Harrison et al., 2018 and Section VI.3].

(8) Explaining the TSR as the balance between growth and development

A low thermal sensitivity of development rate relative to growth rate weakens (or reverses) the TSR, while the TSR is strengthened if development rates increase with temperature more than do growth rates. We have seen why warming-induced acceleration is more likely curtailed for growth: although limited oxygen or food is unlikely to constrain growth rates directly when provided ad libitum, growth rates could be adaptively modulated as a result of warming exacerbating resource limitation during the species' evolutionary history (see Section IV.2). Risks of oxygen limitation are more likely in ectotherms that rely on underwater gas exchange, but are less likely in air-breathing, tracheated arthropods that employ convective ventilation. Since the TSR is expressed at the level of the whole organism (size at maturity, asymptotic size), it integrates the effects that strengthen or weaken the TSR at each level of biological organization. A large genome can either weaken the TSR if it predominantly decelerates developmental rate, or strengthen the TSR when the concomitant larger cell size results in oxygen limitation effects on growth (Fig. 4). With oxygen limitation likely having less of an influence in airbreathers, the effect of genome size on development rate could be dominant here. The slowing down of development

rates with increases in genome size could explain why latitudinal clines of genome size are predominantly negative for (terrestrial) insects (see Alfsnes *et al.*, 2017): at higher latitudes the shorter seasons would require smaller genomes to enable more rapid development. By contrast, for aquatic arthropods cell-size effects on oxygen limitation may be more important under warm conditions. This could help explain the divergent T–S response between these two groups.

V. WHY ARE NEGATIVE T–S RESPONSES SO PREVALENT?

Assuming that the TSR is adaptive, resources are allocated in a temperature- and size-dependent way to enhance fitness. Compared to cool conditions, warmer conditions are associated with faster growth, increased mortality and faster maturity at a smaller size, mirroring major patterns in life histories of animals (Pianka, 1970). The trade-off between adult size and development time (Abrams *et al.*, 1996) places animals on a continuum from early maturation at a small size (allocating resources preferentially to development, prioritizing time), to maturing later at a large size (allocating resources preferentially to growth, prioritizing size). Although there are clear benefits to both being large and being fast, we here focus on how warm temperatures may tip the balance in favour of growing faster to a smaller size and *vice versa* (Table 1).

(1) Mortality and reproduction are temperatureand size-dependent

Prioritizing time may be favoured in warm conditions, as warming may reduce lifespan via increased competition, predation or resource scarcity (food or oxygen). Such increased mortality risks may be associated with thermal acceleration of physiological rates (e.g. growth, development and reproduction), whose resultant energetic costs are known to impair immune function (De Block & Stoks, 2008) and reduce lifespan (Lee, Monaghan, & Metcalfe, 2013; Lind et al., 2017), likely via oxidative stress and cellular senescence (Hemmer-Brepson et al., 2014). Increased mortality typically favours adaptively reducing the duration of the life stage at increased risk. In addition, if warm conditions during juvenile growth incur costs that increase the risk of (reproductive) senescence or reduced lifespan, it should pay to reproduce sooner (with consequently smaller size) to reduce these risks, which thus can provide an adaptive explanation for the TSR at maturity (Sibly & Atkinson, 1994; Kindlmann et al., 2001; Kozłowski et al., 2004). Thermal effects on survivorship reported from laboratory studies do not generally constitute a sufficiently strong selection pressure to account fully for the TSR (Myers & Runge, 1983; Angilletta, Steury, & Sears, 2004). However, the TSR may still be explained adaptively from increased mortality at higher temperatures if thermal effects in the field are larger than those reported from laboratory studies, for example when higher temperature increases

predator-induced mortality (Hirst & Kiorboe, 2002). Increased mortality risks in the warm may also be size dependent (e.g. related to predator escape). If mortality increases with warming especially in larger individuals as has been found for *Daphnia magna* (Bruijning, ten Berge, & Jongejans, 2018), it could be beneficial to mature at a smaller size. Leiva, Calosi, & Verberk (2019) also found survival of heat stress to be dependent on body size.

Prioritizing size may be favoured in cold conditions because of gains in fecundity. Larger mothers typically produce more offspring. In fish, fecundity, egg size and egg energy content all increased with body size, such that larger mothers had disproportionately higher reproductive energy output (Barneche et al., 2018). Such gains in fecundity in larger individuals were magnified under cold conditions in freshwater snails of the genus Physa (Arendt, 2015) and in Daphnia cladocerans (Weetman & Atkinson, 2004), but not the water strider Aquarius remiges (Arendt & in Fairbairn, 2012). In summary, temperature may evolve as a cue such that warm conditions accelerate juvenile development rate, because of a predictable association between warm conditions and increased mortality risks in the field during a species' evolutionary past or because the sizefecundity relationship changes with temperature.

(2) Resource limitation is temperature- and sizedependent

At higher temperatures, ectotherms require more resources to fuel their enhanced activity rates. Although this increased demand may not constrain growth (see Section IV.2) it could increase the risk that resources (e.g. oxygen or food) become limiting under resource-demanding conditions. Therefore, negative T-S responses could have evolved to avoid resource limitation. This hypothesis can be considered the selective effect of 'resource-limitation past' (see Section VI.3 for this principle applied to oxygen). Larger individuals have a higher per capita resource demand and both their aerobic scope and their ability to obtain sufficient food or oxygen may be less capable of matching warming-enhanced demand compared with that of smaller individuals (Atkinson et al., 2006; Neubauer & Andersen, 2019; J.G. Rubalcaba, W.C.E.P. Verberk, A.J. Hendriks, B. Saris. & H.A. Woods, in preparation). Although larger individuals can have greater tolerance to lack of food (Cushman, Lawton, & Manly, 1993; Arnett & Gotelli, 2003; Scharf, Galkin, & Halle, 2015), starvation is more likely outside the growing season (i.e. winter). Moreover, studies demonstrating that animals evolve larger body sizes when reared under cool conditions and fed ad libitum (e.g. Partridge et al., 1994) indicate that starvation is not a necessary condition for the evolution of the observed T-S reaction norms. In summary, temperature may evolve as a cue such that cool conditions favour growing to a larger size, because of a predictable association from the species' evolutionary past, between cool conditions and lower risks of resources becoming limiting.

(3) Mortality and fecundity are often resource dependent

Evolutionary effects of mortality, fecundity (see Section V.1), and resource limitation (see Section V.2) are not independent: resource shortage can impair fecundity and increase mortality risks. Hence, seemingly disparate causes of the TSR can be unified. Specifically, although some warmingenhanced mortality risks (e.g. predation, pond drying) may kill irrespective of resource availability to the organism, it is clear that mortality and resource limitation (related to an organism's aerobic scope, feeding capacity or energy reserves) are often interdependent. On the one hand, increased resource limitation may limit the ability to mount a sufficient defence against threats such as predators or drought, and hence lead to increased mortality from these threats. This increased mortality could favour the evolution of a reaction norm that accelerates juvenile development (maturation) in the warm, thereby reducing this resourcedependent mortality (see Section V.1). On the other hand, selection to actively avoid increased predation risk or unfavourable environmental conditions in the warm may increase selection for a greater resource-supply safety margin, thereby favouring the evolution of a thermal reaction norm producing individuals with a larger safety margin (e.g. aerobic scope), which may be achieved by growing to a smaller size (see Section IV.2). In both cases, adults would be smaller, and would mature earlier in the warm. Thermal effects on fecundity are also likely to be highly dependent on the resource-supply safety margin for adults of different sizes. For instance, in the (aquatic) rotifer Lecane inermis, gains in fecundity with body size were dependent not only on temperature, but also on oxygen levels (Walczyńska et al., 2015a), and in mosquitofish (Gambusia affinis) populations, the reproductive advantage of larger body size decreased with increasing site temperature within 100 years (Fryxell et al., 2020).

In summary, the hypotheses discussed in Sections V.1 and V.2 are not independent. Indeed, to explain the TSR, it is not necessary for resource limitation, mortality and fecundity all to be size and temperature dependent. If one of these is, and their effects are amplified by any of the others, a TSR response can evolve from a variety of mechanisms, potentially explaining why it is so widespread among ectotherms.

VI. WHAT EXPLAINS MOST OF THE VARIATION IN T–S RESPONSES?

Although adult body size is usually reduced under warmer rearing conditions, understanding the causes of variation in the magnitude and direction of T–S responses is likely to lead to a more complete explanation of why body size changes with temperature. The most striking differences to be explained occur between aquatic and terrestrial species (Forster *et al.*, 2012; Horne *et al.*, 2015). Here we focus on the greater thermal seasonality in terrestrial environments, stronger selection to avoid oxygen limitation in aquatic environments, and temperature being a more reliable cue in aquatic environments.

(1) Seasonality and voltinism

Maturing earlier may become feasible under warmer conditions (e.g. due to enhanced growth and food consumption). The benefits of early breeding or even completion of an extra generation may be substantial (Cole, 1954), and can outweigh the disadvantages associated with a smaller body size. These benefits of early maturation are greater in growing populations, since the earlier an organism breeds the greater the proportional contribution each offspring makes to the population. This increase in parental fitness is analogous to the increased financial gains from investing money early in a bank account that gives high compound interest (Calow, 1981; Kozłowski, 1992; Atkinson, 1994; Fischer & Fiedler, 2002; Kingsolver & Huey, 2008). Although population growth rate is variable and not consistently linked to temperature, in seasonal habitats, the number of generations in a year may influence T-S responses. Univoltine species, completing a single generation every year, do not have the opportunity to increase fitness by speeding up development to increase the number of generations per year, especially when univoltism is enforced by an obligatory diapause. Instead, obligate univoltine species should use all the time available to them, and their faster growth in warm conditions therefore will weaken the TSR or even give rise to a converse TSR (Fig. 5; overcompensation sensu Blanckenhorn & Demont, 2004). Indeed, Fischer & Fiedler (2002) demonstrated a weaker TSR in univoltine populations of the butterfly Lycaena hippothoe than in multivoltine populations. Similarly, perceived time available can alter T–S responses (see Section VI.2). Moreover, Sniegula, Golab, & Johansson (2016) reported a smaller size at maturity in cold-latitude populations of the obligate univoltine damselfly Lestes sponsa (i.e. a converse James' cline). Grasshoppers have a diapause at the egg stage, enforcing univoltism, which may explain why grasshoppers generally exhibit converse T–S responses (see Section IV.6). Some univoltine species may be obligatorily univoltine not because of a limited duration of the warm season per se, but because host plants are available for a specific period only, such as is the case for the butterfly Anthocharis cardamines (Posledovich et al., 2014). When host plants are available for a shorter period due to warming, this may still result in faster development to a smaller size despite being univoltine (Fig. 5). Semivoltine species, like multivoltine species, can decrease the time spent per generation (in their case by decreasing the number of years per generation): benefits from increasing numbers of generations per unit time can therefore accrue to species from both groups, but not to univoltine species (Fig. 5). In summary, options to accrue fitness by speeding up development are limited in univoltine species and these are therefore less likely to adhere to the TSR.

Seasonality interacts with voltinism as strong end-of season constraints will result in high mortality, selecting against semivoltine species taking multiple years to complete a generation (Walczyńska, Dańko, & Kozłowski, 2010; Ejsmond et al., 2018). Chown & Klok (2003) found clear differences in altitudinal clines in body size between two regions that differed substantially in seasonality. Species in the region with strong end-of season constraints displayed discrete generations and converse size clines (larger individuals at lower, warmer altitudes), whereas those in the region without clear seasonality displayed overlapping generations and achieved the largest body size in colder, higher altitudes. Minards et al. (2014) also report differences between low- and highaltitude populations of Hemideina orthopterans in their T-S responses established by rearing animals in the laboratory: low-altitude populations followed the TSR and high-altitude populations showed a converse T-S response, suggesting that thermal responses may be adaptively shaped by selection due to differences in season length. The importance of end-ofseason constraints and voltinism is also suggested in a study of community-level body-size gradients by Zeuss et al. (2017): aquatic odonates showed Bergmann clines, whereas terrestrial lepidopterans showed converse Bergmann clines. The different responses of lepidopterans and odonates could at least partly be explained via effects on voltinism: many odonate species extend juvenile development over multiple years, whereas most butterflies were univoltine and hence more likely to have seasonal time limitation on body size, which would be relaxed at lower latitudes with longer annual growth periods. In summary, the risks of not completing juvenile development in time before the onset of winter has much more severe consequences in terrestrial environments than in aquatic environments (e.g. Van Dyck et al., 2015; Forrest, Regan Cross, & Cara Donna, 2019): this may explain why time constraints did not generally reverse T-S responses of aquatic ectotherms (Cabanita & Atkinson, 2006), and may contribute to the difference between aquatic and terrestrial T-S responses (Forster et al., 2012; Horne et al., 2015; Rollinson & Rowe, 2018).

(2) Effects of day length on T-S responses

To understand seasonality effects in the field better, laboratory experiments have shown how day length modulates the effects of temperature on size, changing the allocation of resources to growth, development, reproduction and maintenance (lifespan) (Ernsting & Isaaks, 2000; Camus & Zeng, 2008). Consequently, day length may affect the strength of the TSR in both terrestrial and aquatic taxa (e.g. Kutcherov et al., 2011; Martínez-Jerónimo, 2012; Kollberg et al., 2013; De Block & Stoks, 2003; but see Cabanita & Atkinson, 2006). In multivoltine tephritid flies, warming results in early maturation at a smaller size under an earlyseason photoperiod, whereas maturation was delayed under a late-season photoperiod, resulting in larger adults with presumably better chances of surviving winter conditions (Xi et al., 2016). Such modulation of T-S responses and of juvenile development period by photoperiod suggests that these animals use day length as a cue to gauge time in the

year, and hence the availability of future favourable conditions. Animals tend to speed up development when less time is available, but they can also increase growth rates, which can buffer changes in adult size (Abrams et al., 1996; Blanckenhorn & Demont, 2004; Kivelä et al., 2011; Buckley et al., 2015). This complexity between voltinism, body size and temperature can make it difficult to disentangle the different influences (Cabanita & Atkinson, 2006) and males and females may prioritize development time and body size differently (De Block & Stoks, 2003). What is clear though is that cold, high-latitude environments present stronger time limitations, which may be overcome by extending development over multiple years (decreasing voltinism). Changes in voltinism across populations may be accompanied by changes in allele frequency of clock genes linked to postdiapause development time such that complete life cycles can be 'fitted' into latitudinally varying growing seasons (Levy et al., 2015). Shifts in voltinism across thermal clines can result in changes in strength of seasonal time constraints on the populations. Consequently, thermal responses in body size along thermal clines (e.g. associated with altitude and latitude) can be discontinuous, following a saw-tooth pattern, which arises from alternate intensification and relaxation of time constraints as both voltinism and season length vary (Roff, 1980). Within species of aquatic arthropods, gradients of body size across latitudes are non-linear, indicating that there is more to latitudinal clines in body size than just temperature (Johansson, 2003; Hassall, 2013). In summary, day length may alter the thermal reaction norms and the resulting size and age at maturity in ways that depend on: (i) the voltinism of the population from which the individuals originated; (ii) the physiological state of the individual; and (iii) the temperature and light regime of its environment (Honěk, 1996; Gotthard, Nylin, & Wiklund, 2000; Lopatina et al., 2011; Martínez-Jerónimo, 2012; Clemmensen & Hahn, 2015). All of these provide information about availability of time for development (Roff, 1980; Lee, Monaghan, & Metcalfe, 2010).

(3) The 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past'

The proximate mechanisms by which a shortage of oxygen puts large individuals in the warm at a disadvantage, especially in aquatic environments (see Section IV.3) can also act on evolutionary timescales to eliminate phenotypes that produce large adults under warm conditions. Importantly, powerful selective events in the past need not be frequent to affect the phenotypes of descendants (Grant et al., 2017). According to this evolutionary perspective, at warmer temperatures oxygen may be limiting only infrequently, even for aquatic species, because past selection on T-S responses has eliminated genotypes more prone to oxygen limitation. This selection could favour genotypes with enhanced supply capacity, and indeed, arthropods have evolved a suite of plastic responses geared to avoid oxygen limitation (see Harrison et al., 2018). For aquatic ectotherms, selection may also have favoured reaction norms that increase body size in cool conditions, as being large may be helpful in overcoming the viscosity of cold water: larger animals can generate higher flow speeds of water, which increases the energy efficiency of gill surface irrigation and of body propulsion (Verberk & Atkinson, 2013). Experiments that investigate T–S responses typically include normoxic laboratory settings with abundant food and without natural enemies. Under these favourable conditions, individuals would be unlikely to experience resource limitation. Instead, these individuals would have evolved a canalized growth response that safeguards sufficient oxygen provisioning (e.g. a safety margin, such as aerobic scope) under warmer conditions. In the same way that Connell's 'Ghost of Competition Past' could explain how avoidance of competition had evolved (Connell, 1980), we can invoke a 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past' potentially to explain the evolution of a strong TSR in aquatic species, even if oxygen limitation is not evident under favourable conditions. This idea can explain why responses to hyperoxia are usually small (Frazier et al., 2001): the 'Ghost of Oxygenlimitation Past' may have selected against animals that would grow bigger in the presence of additional oxygen if their ancestors did not benefit from an increased body size at hyperoxia. Indeed, fruit fly body-size responses to varying levels of oxygen do evolve (Henry & Harrison, 2004). T-S responses also evolve as shown by multi-generation experiments on medaka fish reared under different temperatures (Loisel et al., 2019). Fish reared under warm conditions grew to a smaller asymptotic size compared with those reared under cool conditions. However, fish reared under warm conditions for a single generation grew smaller but also produced fewer offspring than those reared for multiple generations under these conditions (Loisel et al., 2019). Thus, evolution can modulate growth trajectories. If the juvenile growth temperatures carry information on whether resource limitation is likely to constrain fitness once these juveniles mature, thermal reaction norms for size at maturity could reflect the balance of oxygen demand to supply under T-S combinations experienced by ancestors (Atkinson & Sibly, 1997*a*; Atkinson *et al.*, 2006). In this way, temperatures experienced early in ontogeny may act as a cue to adjust growth trajectories and the resulting adult or final size. Such cues may also be experienced by the mother, and this information can then be passed on to the offspring as has been argued for adaptive changes in cell size [see Walczyńska et al., 2015b and Section IV.7].

(4) Temperature and oxygen as an information cue

The 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past' views T–S responses as adaptive responses to maintain a safety margin for aerobic scope (Fig. 3) that have evolved in response to temperature and oxygen conditions experienced by ancestors. These reaction norms incorporate temperature and oxygen levels (or physiological correlates of oxygen levels) as cues and the information content of such cues is likely to differ between terrestrial and aquatic environments. In aquatic environments, temperature fluctuates less and varies more predictably than on land, especially for larger bodies of water, making water temperature a reliable cue. Moreover, terrestrial animals can exploit the greater thermal heterogeneity on land via behavioural thermoregulation, reducing the information content of air temperature. Hypoxia is also more common in aquatic environments, especially during warm periods. The 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past' is therefore more likely to operate in aquatic ectotherms, favouring genotypes that grow to a smaller size in warm water, and consequently avoiding oxygen constraints on growth. This prediction is consistent with the stronger TSR in aquatic than in terrestrial species (Fig. 2; Forster et al., 2012; Horne et al., 2015). In summary, on land, temperature is spatially more heterogeneous and temporally more variable. Coupled to the ability to thermoregulate, this may weaken any selection pressure on thermal reaction norms for size and age at maturity in terrestrial species.

VII. QUESTIONS AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

We are beginning to understand the distinct patterns in T–S responses across animal groups. Still, many important questions remain, and here we propose some questions and directions for future research:

- (1) Elucidate the role of cell size and genome size in generating the TSR. Does the thermal dependency of growth and development differ with cell size or genome size in both terrestrial and aquatic ectotherms? How do cell proliferation and cellular enlargement contribute to whole-organism growth during ontogeny, and do T–S responses become stronger during periods where cellular enlargement contributes most? Is the decision to arrest cell growth governed by a threshold ratio between supply and demand of oxygen to safeguard sufficient oxygen delivery, which is calibrated against the temperatures experienced by parents? How does this threshold ratio relate to the critical size of an insect?
- (2) Elucidate the role of ecological factors in shaping T–S responses. How do T–S responses change with photoperiod, voltinism, predator characteristics (endotherm, ectotherm, sit-and-wait, active hunter, etc.) and food conditions? How do T–S responses affect community assembly by affecting geographic range shifts, predator–prey relationships and phenology?
- (3) Extend the scope of data on T–S responses. How does developmental temperature affect body size in largerbodied species, both aquatic and terrestrial? How does size in aquatic species change across altitudinal clines? How do T–S responses change over multiple generations when long-term adaptation also starts to play a role? Do multiple-generation T–S responses differ if temperature is decoupled from proposed selective

factors (e.g. oxygen supply, time constraints, mortality schedules)?

- (4) Create a database for T–S responses, facilitating future (meta) analyses.
- (5) Explain the adaptive nature of T–S responses by integrating growth trajectories of juveniles to fitness consequences of adults (e.g. by modelling of energy budgets or conducting multigenerational studies into the evolution of T–S reaction norms, where putative selective agents (e.g. oxygen limitation, mortality risks) are decoupled from temperature. Are larger individuals more susceptible to oxygen limitation under warmer conditions and does such (incipient) oxygen limitation proximately or ultimately limit growth?

VIII. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) The many explanations proposed (Table 1) for observed phenotypically plastic body-size responses to temperature (the TSR) differ in domain (focussing on physiological mechanisms that bring about T–S responses or their adaptive nature) and apply to different biological levels of organization (activity rates of enzymes, cells, organisms, populations, communities). The TSR is not universal, but the strength of the TSR varies in predictable ways (being stronger in larger, aquatic ectotherms and being weaker or reversed in larger, terrestrial ectotherms).
- (2) Effects of temperature are pervasive, affecting biological levels of organization ranging from wholeorganism growth performance down to activities of individual proteins, which makes it unlikely that a single proximate mechanism underlies the TSR. An oxygen perspective may help to explain the effects of temperature on size, especially in large aquatic ectotherms, which are arguably most susceptible to risks of oxygen limitation.
- (3) Warming may exacerbate risks of oxygen limitation or reduce the safety margin of aerobic scope. For air breathers such as terrestrial insects, problems with insufficient oxygen may be less likely and time constraints take centre stage. Season length may constrain developmental period, forcing them to prioritize time over size as overwintering is more challenging. Day length and temperature may together provide information on how long conditions will remain favourable for development, explaining why thermal responses are modulated by photoperiod.
- (4) Time constraints, mortality risks, and resource limitation are not mutually exclusive explanations for the TSR. Rather, they may operate in tandem but their relative importance may vary depending on the ecology and physiology of the species in question (Fig. 4). At the level of cells, effects of cell size on oxygen provisioning may be more relevant for aquatic species,

whereas effects of genome size on development time may be more relevant for terrestrial species. Similarly, at the level of the whole organism, capacity for oxygen provisioning differs with mode of respiration and habitat use, while end-of-season constraints likely differ between aquatic and terrestrial species. Thus, multiple pathways operating at different levels of organization show T-S responses that broadly differ across the aquatic-terrestrial divide. T-S responses may be viewed as being canalized – producing the same adaptive response by a range of mechanisms, since the resultant response has proven its adaptive worth both for safeguarding energy status (e.g. via oxygen provisioning) and for safeguarding completion of development (via time sensing). As such, oxygen supply can be both a proximate mechanism and an ultimate driver (the 'Ghost of Oxygen-limitation Past').

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Asta Audzijonyte and Aleksandra Walczyńska for providing thoughtful and constructive feedback, which was very helpful in improving our manuscript. W.C.E.P.V. gratefully acknowledges support from the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO-VIDI Grant 016.161.321). D.A., A.G.H. and C.R.H. were supported by NERC grant NE/P012183/2.

IX. REFERENCES

- ABRAMS, P. A., LEIMAR, O., NYLIN, S. & WIKLUND, C. (1996). The effect of flexible growth rates on optimal sizes and development times in a seasonal environment. *The American Naturalist* 147, 381–395.
- AGUILAR-ALBEROLA, J. A. & MESQUITA-JOANES, F. (2014). Breaking the temperature-size rule: thermal effects on growth, development and fecundity of a crustacean from temporary waters. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **42**, 15–24.
- ALFSNES, K., LEINAAS, H. P. & HESSEN, D. O. (2017). Genome size in arthropods; different roles of phylogeny, habitat and life history in insects and crustaceans. *Ecology and Evolution* 7, 5939–5947.
- ANGILLETTA, M. J. & DUNHAM, A. E. (2003). The temperature-size rule in ectotherms: simple evolutionary explanations may not be general. *The American Naturalist* 162, 332–342.
- ANGILLETTA, M. J., STEURY, T. D. & SEARS, M. W. (2004). Temperature, growth rate, and body size in ectotherms: fitting pieces of a life-history puzzle. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 44, 498–509.
- ANTOL, A., MARIA LABECKA, A., HORVÁTHOVÁ, T., ZIELISKI, B., SZABLA, N., VASKO, Y., PECIO, A., KOZŁOWSKI, J. & CZARNOLESKI, M. (2020). Thermal and oxygen conditions during development cause common rough woodlice (*Porcellio scaber*) to alter the size of their gas-exchange organs. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **90**, 102600.
- ARENDT, J. (2007). Ecological correlates of body size in relation to cell size and cell number: patterns in flies, fish, fruits and foliage. *Biological Reviews* 82, 241–256.
- ARENDT, J. (2015). Why get big in the cold? Size-fecundity relationships explain the temperature-size rule in a pulmonate snail (*Physa*). *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 28, 169–178.
- ARENDT, J. & FAIRBAIRN, D. (2012). Reproductive allometry does not explain the temperature-size rule in water striders (*Aquarius remigis*). Evolutionary Ecology 26, 745–757.
- ARNETT, A. E. & GOTELLI, N. J. (2003). Bergmann's rule in larval ant lions: testing the starvation resistance hypothesis. *Ecological Entomology* 28, 645–650.
- ATKINSON, D. (1994). Temperature and organism size a biological law for ectotherms? Advances in Ecological Research 25, 1–58.
- ATKINSON, D. & SIBLY, R. M. (1997a). Geometrical constraints on body size Reply from D. Atkinson and R.M. Sibly. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 12, 442–443.

- ATKINSON, D. & SIBLY, R. M. (1997b). Why are organisms usually bigger in colder environments? Making sense of a life history puzzle. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 12, 235–239.
- ATKINSON, D., MORLEY, S. A., WEETMAN, D. & HUGHES, R. N. (2001). Offspring size responses to maternal temperature in ectotherms. In *Environment and Animal Development: Genes, Life Histories and Plasticity* (eds D. ATKINSON and M. THORNDYKE), pp. 269–286. BIOS Scientific, Oxford.
- ATKINSON, D., MORLEY, S. A. & HUGHES, R. N. (2006). From cells to colonies: at what levels of body organization does the 'temperature-size rule' apply? *Evolution and Development* 8, 202–214.
- AUDZIJONYTE, A., BARNECHE, D. R., BAUDRON, A. R., BELMAKER, J., CLARK, T. D., MARSHALL, C. T., MORRONGIELLO, J. R. & VAN RIJN, I. (2019). Is oxygen limitation in warming waters a valid mechanism to explain decreased body sizes in aquatic ectotherms? *Global Change Biology* 28, 64–77.
- AUDZIJONYTE, A., RICHARDS, S. A., STUART-SMITH, R. D., PECL, G., EDGAR, G. J., BARRETT, N. S., PAYNE, N. & BLANCHARD, J.L. (2020). Fish body sizes change with temperature but not all species shrink with warming. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 4, 809–814. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1171-0.
- AYRES, M. P. & SCRIBER, J. M. (1994). Local adaptation to regional climates in *Papilio canadensis* (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae). *Ecological Monographs* 64, 465–482.
- BANAS, N. S. & CAMPBELL, R. G. (2016). Traits controlling body size in copepods: separating general constraints from species-specific strategies. *Marine Ecology Progress* Series 558, 21–33.
- BARNECHE, D. R., ROBERTSON, D. R., WHITE, C. R. & MARSHALL, D. J. (2018). Fish reproductive-energy output increases disproportionately with body size. *Science* 360, 642–644.
- BAUDRON, A. R., NEEDLE, C. L., RIJNSDORP, A. D. & TARA MARSHALL, C. (2014). Warming temperatures and smaller body sizes: synchronous changes in growth of North Sea fishes. *Global Change Biology* 20, 1023–1031.
- BELK, M. C. & HOUSTON, D. D. (2002). Bergmann's rule in ectotherms: a test using freshwater fishes. *The American Naturalist* 160, 803–808.
- BERNER, D. & BLANCKENHORN, W. U. (2006). Grasshopper ontogeny in relation to time constraints: adaptive divergence and stasis. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 75, 130–139.
- BERRIGAN, D. & CHARNOV, E. L. (1994). Reaction norms for age and size at maturity in response to temperature: a puzzle for life historians. *Oikos* 70, 474–478.
- BLANCKENHORN, W. U. (2000). The evolution of body size: what keeps organisms small? Quarterly Review of Biology 75, 385–407.
- BLANCKENHORN, W. U. & DEMONT, M. (2004). Bergmann and converse Bergmann latitudinal clines in arthropods: two ends of a continuum? *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 44, 413–424.
- BROWN, J. H. & SIBLY, R. M. (2006). Life-history evolution under a production constraint. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 17595–17599.
- BRUJNING, M., TEN BERGE, A. & JONGEJANS, E. (2018). Population-level responses to temperature, density and clonal differences in *Daphnia magna* as revealed by integral projection modeling. *Functional Ecology* 32, 2407–2422.
- BUCKLEY, L. B., NUFIO, C. R., KIRK, E. M. & KINGSOLVER, J. G. (2015). Elevational differences in developmental plasticity determine phenological responses of grasshoppers to recent climate warming. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282, 20150441.
- BURLESON, M. L., WILHELM, D. R. & SMATRESK, N. J. (2001). The influence of fish size on the avoidance of hypoxia and oxygen selection by largemouth bass. *Journal of Fish Biology* 59, 1336–1349.
- CABANITA, R. & ATKINSON, D. (2006). Seasonal time constraints do not explain exceptions to the temperature size rule in ectotherms. *Oikos* 114, 431–440.
- CALBOLI, F. C. F., GILCHRIST, G. W. & PARTRIDGE, L. (2003). Different cell size and cell number contribution in two newly established and one ancient body size cline of *Drosophila subobscura. Evolution* 57, 566–573.
- CALLIER, V. & NIJHOUT, H. F. (2011). Control of body size by oxygen supply reveals size-dependent and size-independent mechanisms of molting and metamorphosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 14664–14669.
- CALLIER, V., SHINGLETON, A. W., BRENT, C. S., GHOSH, S. M., KIM, J. & HARRISON, J. F. (2013). The role of reduced oxygen in the developmental physiology of growth and metamorphosis initiation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 216, 4334–4340.
- CALOW, P. (1981). Resource utilization and reproduction. In *Physiological Ecology. An Evolutionary Approach to Resource Use* (eds C. R. TOWNSEND and P. CALOW), pp. 245–270. University of Michigan, Ann Arbor.
- CAMUS, T. & ZENG, C. (2008). Effects of photoperiod on egg production and hatching success, naupliar and copepodite development, adult sex ratio and life expectancy of the tropical calanoid copepod *Acartia sinjiensis*. *Aquaculture* 280, 220–226.
- CAVALIER-SMITH, T. (2005). Economy, speed and size matter: evolutionary forces driving nuclear genome miniaturization and expansion. *Annals of Botany* 95, 147–175.
- CHAPELLE, G. & PECK, L. S. (2004). Amphipod crustacean size spectra: new insights in the relationship between size and oxygen. *Oikos* 106, 167–175.

- CHAPMAN, L. J. & MCKENZIE, D. J. (2009). Behavioral responses and ecological consequences. In *Fish Physiology* (Volume 27, eds J. G. RICHARDS, A. P. FARRELL and C. J. BRAUNER), pp. 25–77. Academic Press, Burlington.
- CHEUNG, W. W. L., SARMIENTO, J. L., DUNNE, J., FRÖLICHER, T. L., LAM, V. W. Y., PALOMARES, M. L. D., WATSON, R. & PAULY, D. (2013). Shrinking of fishes exacerbates impacts of global ocean changes on marine ecosystems. *Nature Climate Change* 3, 254–258.
- CHOWN, S. L. & KLOK, C. J. (2003). Altitudinal body size clines: latitudinal effects associated with changing seasonality. *Ecography* 26, 445–455.
- CLEMMENSEN, S. F. & HAHN, D. A. (2015). Dormancy cues alter insect temperature-size relationships. *Oecologia* 177, 113–121.
- COLE, L. C. (1954). The population consequences of life history phenomena. Quarterly Review of Biology 29, 103–137.
- CONNELL, J. H. (1980). Diversity and the coevolution of competitors, or the ghost of competition past. Oikos 35, 131–138.
- CRILL, W. D., HUEY, R. B. & GILCHRIST, G. W. (1996). Within- and between-generation effects of temperature on the morphology and physiology of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Evolution* 50, 1205–1218.
- CUI, W., ZHOU, J., DEHNE, N. & BRUNE, B. (2015). Hypoxia induces calpain activity and degrades SMAD2 to attenuate TGFbeta signaling in macrophages. *Cell & Bioscience* 5, 36.
- CUSHMAN, J. H., LAWTON, J. H. & MANLY, B. F. J. (1993). Latitudinal patterns in European ant assemblages: variation in species richness and body size. *Oecologia* 95, 30–37.
- CZARNOŁĘSKI, M., KOZŁOWSKI, J., DUMIOT, G., BONNET, J.-C., MALLARD, J. & DUPONT-NIVET, M. (2008). Scaling of metabolism in *Helix aspersa* snails: changes through ontogeny and response to selection for increased size. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 211, 391–399.
- CZARNOŁESKI, M., COOPER, B. S., KIERAT, J. & ANGILLETTA, M. J. (2013). Flies developed small bodies and small cells in warm and in thermally fluctuating environments. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 216, 2896–2901.
- DAUFRESNE, M., LENGFELLNER, K. & SOMMER, U. (2009). Global warming benefits the small in aquatic ecosystems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 12788–12793.
- DAY, T. & ROWE, L. (2002). Developmental thresholds and the evolution of reaction norms for age and size at life-history transitions. *The American Naturalist* 159, 338–350.
- DE BLOCK, M. & STOKS, R. (2003). Adaptive sex-specific life history plasticity to temperature and photoperiod in a damselfly. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 16, 986–995.
- DE BLOCK, M. & STOKS, R. (2008). Short-term larval food stress and associated compensatory growth reduce adult immune function in a damselfly. *Ecological Entomology* 33, 796–801.
- DEJOURS, P. (1981). Principles of Comparative Respiratory Physiology. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- DELL, A. I., PAWAR, S. & SAVAGE, V. M. (2014). Temperature dependence of trophic interactions are driven by asymmetry of species responses and foraging strategy. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 83, 70–84.
- DELONG, J. P. (2012). Experimental demonstration of a 'rate-size' trade-off governing body size optimization. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* 14, 343–352.
- DENNY, M. (2017). The fallacy of the average: on the ubiquity, utility and continuing novelty of Jensen's inequality. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 220, 139–146.
- DHILLON, R. S. & FOX, M. G. (2004). Growth-independent effects of temperature on age and size at maturity in Japanese medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). Copeia 2004(1), 37–45.
- DIAMOND, S. E. & KINGSOLVER, J. G. (2010). Environmental dependence of thermal reaction norms: host plant quality can reverse the temperature-size rule. *The American Naturalist* 175, 1–10.
- DINGLE, H. & MOUSSEAU, T. A. (1994). Geographic variation in embryonic development time and stage of diapause in a grasshopper. *Oecologia* 97, 179–185.
- DITTRICH, C., DRAKULI, S., SCHELLENBERG, M., THEIN, J. & RODEL, M.-O. (2016). Some like it hot? Developmental differences in yellow-bellied toad (*Bombina variegata*) tadpoles from geographically close but different habitats. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 94, 69–77.
- DUFRESNE, F. & HEBERT, P. D. N. (1998). Temperature-related differences in lifehistory characteristics between diploid and polyploid clones of the *Daphnia pulex* complex. *Écoscience* 5, 433–437.
- DUFRESNE, F. & JEFFERY, N. (2011). A guided tour of large genome size in animals: what we know and where we are heading. *Chromosome Research* 19, 925–938.
- EDELINE, E., LACROIX, G., DELIRE, C., POULET, N. & LEGENDRE, S. (2013). Ecological emergence of thermal clines in body size. *Global Change Biology* **19**, 3062–3068.
- EJSMOND, M. J., MCNAMARA, J. M., SØREIDE, J. & VARPE, Ø. (2018). Gradients of season length and mortality risk cause shifts in body size, reserves and reproductive strategies of determinate growers. *Functional Ecology* 32, 2395–2406.
- ELLIS, L. L., HUANG, W., QUINN, A. M., AHUJA, A., ALFREJD, B., GOMEZ, F. E., HJELMEN, C. E., MOORE, K. L., MACKAY, T. F., JOHNSTON, J. S. & TARONE, A. M. (2014). Intrapopulation genome size variation in *D. melanogaster* reflects life history variation and plasticity. *PLoS Genetics* **10**, e1004522.

- ERNSTING, G. & ISAAKS, A. (2000). Ectotherms, temperature, and trade-offs: size and number of eggs in a carabid beetle. *The American Naturalist* 155, 804–813.
- FISCHER, K. & FIEDLER, K. (2002). Reaction norms for age and size at maturity in response to temperature: a test of the compound interest hypothesis. *Evolutionary Ecology* 16, 333–349.
- FISHER, K., EENHOORN, E., BOT, A. N. M., BRAKEFIELD, P. M. & ZWAAN, B. J. (2003). Cooler butterflies lay larger eggs: developmental plasticity versus acclimation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 270, 2051–2056.
- FORREST, J. R. K., REGAN CROSS, R. & CARA DONNA, P. J. (2019). Two-year bee, or not two-year bee? How voltinism is affected by temperature and season length in a highelevation solitary bee. *The American Naturalist* 193, 560–574.
- FORSTER, J. & HIRST, A. G. (2012). The temperature-size rule emerges from ontogenetic differences between growth and development rates. *Functional Ecology* 26, 483–492.
- FORSTER, J., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2011a). How do organisms change size with changing temperature? The importance of reproductive method and ontogenetic timing. *Functional Ecology* 25, 1024–1031.
- FORSTER, J., HIRST, A. G. & WOODWARD, G. (2011b). Growth and development rates have different thermal responses. *The American Naturalist* **178**, 668–678.
- FORSTER, J., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2012). Warming-induced reductions in body size are greater in aquatic than terrestrial species. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109, 19310–19314.
- FORSTER, J., HIRST, A. G. & ESTEBAN, G. (2013). Achieving temperature-size changes in a unicellular organism. ISME Journal 7, 28–36.
- FRAZIER, M. R., WOODS, H. A. & HARRISON, J. F. (2001). Interactive effects of rearing temperature and oxygen on the development of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Physiological* and *Biochemical Zoology* 74, 641–650.
- FRYXELL, D. C., HOOVER, A. N., ALVAREZ, D. A., ARNESEN, F. J., BENAVENTE, J. N., MOFFETT, E. R., KINNISON, M. T., SIMON, K. S. & PALKOVACS, E. P. (2020). Recent warming reduces the reproductive advantage of large size and contributes to evolutionary downsizing in nature. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 287, 20200608.
- GARDNER, J. L., PETERS, A., KEARNEY, M. R., JOSEPH, L. & HEINSOHN, R. (2011). Declining body size: a third universal response to warming? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 26, 285–291.
- GHOSH, S. M., TESTA, N. D. & SHINGLETON, A. W. (2013). Temperature-size rule is mediated by thermal plasticity of critical size in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 280, 20130174.
- GLAZIER, D. S., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2015). Shape shifting predicts ontogenetic changes in metabolic scaling in diverse aquatic invertebrates. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282, 20142302.
- GOOLISH, E. M. (1989). The scaling of aerobic and anaerobic muscle power in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdner). Journal of Experimental Biology 147, 493–505.
- GOTTHARD, K., NYLIN, S. & WIKLUND, C. (2000). Individual state controls temperature dependence in a butterfly (*Lassionmata maera*). Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 267, 589–593.
- GRANT, P. R., GRANT, B. R., HUEY, R. B., JOHNSON, M. T. J., KNOLL, A. H. & SCHMITT, J. (2017). Evolution caused by extreme events. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 372, 20160146.
- GREENBERG, S. & AR, A. (1996). Effects of chronic hypoxia, normoxia and hyperoxia on larval development in the beetle *Tenebrio molitor*. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 42, 991–996.
- GREENLEE, K. J. & HARRISON, J. F. (2004). Development of respiratory function in the American locust Schistocerca americana I. across-instar effects. Journal of Experimental Biology 207, 497–508.
- GREGORY, T. R. (2001). Coincidence, coevolution, or causation? DNA content, cell size, and the C-value enigma. *Biological Reviews* 76, 65–101.
- GREGORY, T.R. (2018). Animal Genome Size Database. http://www.genomesize.com.
- GREGORY, T. R. & JOHNSTON, J. S. (2008). Genome size diversity in the family Drosophilidae. *Heredity* 101, 228–238.
- GUZY, R. D. & SCHUMACKER, P. T. (2006). Oxygen sensing by mitochondria at complex III: the paradox of increased reactive oxygen species during hypoxia. *Experimental Physiology* **91**, 807–819.
- HARRISON, J. F., KLOK, C. J. & WATERS, J. S. (2014). Critical PO₂ is size-independent in insects: implications for the metabolic theory of ecology. *Current Opinions in Insect Science* 4, 54–59.
- HARRISON, J. F., GREENLEE, K. & VERBERK, W. C. E. P. (2018). Functional hypoxia in insects: definition, assessment, and consequences for physiology, ecology and evolution. *Annual Review of Entomology* 63, 303–325.
- HASSALL, C. (2013). Time stress and temperature explain continental variation in damselfly body size. *Ecography* 36, 894–903.
- HEIBO, E., MAGNHAGEN, C. & VØLLESTAD, L. A. (2005). Latitudinal variation in lifehistory traits in Eurasian perch. *Ecology* 86, 3377–3386.
- HEMMER-BREPSON, C., REPLUMAZ, L., ROMESTAING, C., VOITURON, Y. & DAUFRESNE, M. (2014). Non-stressful temperature effect on oxidative balance and life history traits in adult fish (*Oryzias latipes*). *Journal of Experimental Biology* **217**, 274–282.

- HENRY, J. R. & HARRISON, J. F. (2004). Plastic and evolved responses of larval trachcae and mass to varying atmospheric oxygen content in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 207, 3559–3559, 3567.
- HERMANIUK, A., RYBACKI, M. & TAYLOR, J. R. E. (2016). Low temperature and polyploidy result in larger cell and body size in an ectothermic vertebrate. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 89, 118–129.
- HESSEN, D. O., DAUFRESNE, M. & LEINAAS, H. P. (2013). Temperature-size relations from the cellular-genomic perspective. *Biological Reviews* 88, 476–489.
- HILDREW, A. G., RAFFAELLI, D. & EDMONDS-BROWN, R. (2007). Body Size: The Structure and Function of Aquatic Ecosystems. Ecological Reviews. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- HIRST, A. G. & KIORBOE, T. (2002). Mortality of marine planktonic copepods: global rates and patterns. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 230, 195–209.
- HIRST, A. G., GLAZIER, D. S. & ATKINSON, D. (2014). Body shape shifting during growth permits tests that distinguish between competing geometric theories of metabolic scaling. *Ecology Letters* 17, 1274–1281.
- HOEFNAGEL, K. N. & VERBERK, W. C. E. P. (2015). Is the temperature-size rule mediated by oxygen in aquatic ectotherms? *Journal of Thermal Biology* 54, 56–65.
- HOEFNAGEL, K. N., DE VRIES, E. H. J., JONGEJANS, E. & VERBERK, W. C. E. P. (2018). The temperature-size rule in *Daphnia magna* across different genetic lines and ontogenetic stages: multiple patterns and mechanisms. *Ecology and Evolution* 8, 3828–3841.
- HONĚK, A. (1996). Geographical variation in thermal requirements for insect development. *European Journal of Entomology* 93, 303–312.
- HORNE, C. R., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2015). Temperature-size responses match latitudinal-size clines in arthropods, revealing critical differences between aquatic and terrestrial species. *Ecology Letters* 18, 327–335.
- HORNE, C. R., HIRST, A. G., ATKINSON, D., NEVES, A. & KIØRBOE, T. (2016). A global synthesis of seasonal temperature-size responses in copepods. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 25, 988–999.
- HORNE, C. R., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2017). Seasonal body size reductions with warming co-vary with major body size gradients in arthropod species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 284, 20170238.
- HORNE, C. R., HIRST, A. G. & ATKINSON, D. (2018). Insect temperature-body size trends common to laboratory, latitudinal and seasonal gradients are not found across altitudes. *Functional Ecology* 32, 948–957.
- HORNE, C. R., HIRST, A. G., ATKINSON, D., ALMEDA, R. & KIØRBOE, T. (2019). Rapid shifts in the thermal sensitivity of growth but not development rate causes temperature-size response variability during ontogeny in arthropods. *Oikos* 128, 834–835.
- JEFFERY, N. W., YAMPOLSKY, L. & GREGORY, T. R. (2017). Nuclear DNA content correlates with depth, body size, and diversification rate in amphipod crustaceans from ancient Lake Baikal, Russia. *Genome* **60**, 303–309.
- JOHANSSON, F. (2003). Latitudinal shifts in body size of *Enallagma cyathigerum* (Odonata). *Journal of Biogeography* **30**, 29–34.
- KAISER, A., KLOK, C. J., SOCHA, J. J., LEE, W. K., QUINLAN, M. C. & HARRISON, J. F. (2007). Increase in tracheal investment with beetle size supports hypothesis of oxygen limitation on insect gigantism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104, 13198–13203.
- KAMMENGA, J. E., DOROSZUK, A., RIKSEN, J. A. G., HAZENDONK, E., SPIRIDON, L., PETRESCU, A. J., TIJSTERMAN, M., PLASTERK, R. H. A. & BAKKER, J. (2007). A *Caenorhabditis elegans* wild type defies the temperature size rule owing to a single nucleotide polymorphism in *tra-3. PLoS Genetics* 3, e34.
- KINDLMANN, P., DIXON, A. F. G. & DOSTALKOVA, I. (2001). Role of ageing and temperature in shaping reaction norms and fecundity functions in insects. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 14, 835–840.
- KINGSOLVER, J. G. & HUEY, R. B. (2008). Size, temperature, and fitness: three rules. Evolutionary Ecology Research 10, 251–268.
- KIVELÄ, S. M., VÄLIMÄRI, P., CARRASCO, D., MÄENPÄA, M. I. & OKSANEN, J. (2011). Latitudinal insect body size clines revisited: a critical evaluation of the saw-tooth model. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 80, 1184–1195.
- KIVELÅ, S. M., VIINAMÄKI, S., KERET, N., GOTTHARD, K., HOHTOLA, E. & VÄLIMÄKI, P. (2018). Elucidating mechanisms for insect body size: partial support for the oxygen-dependent induction of moulting hypothesis. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 221, e166157.
- KLOK, C. J. & HARRISON, J. F. (2013). The temperature size rule in arthropods: independent of macro-environmental variables but size dependent. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 53, 557–570.
- KNOUFT, J. H. (2014). Latitudinal variation in the shape of the species body size distribution: an analysis using freshwater fishes. *Oecologia* 139, 408–417.
- KOLLBERG, I., BYLUND, H., SCHMIDT, A., GERSHENZON, J. & BJÖRKMAN, C. (2013). Multiple effects of temperature, photoperiod and food quality on the performance of a pine sawfly. *Ecological Entomology* 38, 201–208.
- KOOIJMAN, S. A. L. M. (2010). Dynamic Energy Budget Theory for Metabolic Organisation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- KOZŁOWSKI, J. (1992). Optimal allocation of resources to growth and reproduction: implications for age and size at maturity. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 7, 15–19.

- KOZŁOWSKI, J., CZARNOŁĘSKI, M. & DANKO, M. (2004). Can optimal resource allocation models explain why ectotherms grow larger in cold? *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 44, 480–493.
- KUTCHEROV, D. A., LOPATINA, E. B. & KIPVATKOV, V. E. (2011). Photoperiod modifies thermal reaction norms for growth and development in the red popular leaf beetle *Chrysomela populi* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae). *Journal of Insect Physiology* 57, 892–898.
- LEE, W.-S., MONAGHAN, P. & METCALFE, N. B. (2010). The trade-off between growth rate and locomotor performance varies with perceived time until breeding. *Journal* of Experimental Biology 213, 3289–3298.
- LEE, W.-S., MONAGHAN, P. & METCALFE, N. B. (2013). Experimental demonstration of the growth rate–lifespan trade-off. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280, 20122370.
- LEFEVRE, S., MCKENZIE, D. J. & NILSSON, G. E. (2017). Models projecting the fate of fish populations under climate change need to be based on valid physiological mechanisms. *Global Change Biology* 23, 3449–3459.
- LEINAAS, H. P., JALAL, M., GABRIELSEN, T. M. & HESSEN, D. O. (2016). Inter- and intraspecific variation in body- and genome size in calanoid copepods from temperate and arctic waters. *Ecology and Evolution* 6, 5585–5595.
- LEIVA, F. P., CALOSI, P. & VERBERK, W. C. E. P. (2019). Scaling of thermal tolerance with body mass and genome size in ectotherms: a comparison between water-and air-breathers. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 374, 2019935.
- LEVY, R. A. & NUFIO, C. R. (2015). Dispersal potential impacts size clines of grasshoppers across an elevation gradient. *Oikos* 124, 610–619.
- LEVV, R. C., KOZAC, G. M., WADSWORTH, C. B., COATES, B. S. & DOPMAN, E. B. (2015). Explaining the sawtooth: latitudinal periodicity in a circadian gene correlates with shifts in generation number. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 28, 40–53.
- LIND, M. I., CHEN, H. Y., MEURLING, S., GUEVARA GIL, A. C., CARLSSON, H., ZWOINSKA, M. K., ANDERSSON, J., LARVA, T. & MAKLAKOV, A. A. (2017). Slow development as an evolutionary cost of long life. *Functional Ecology* **31**, 1252–1261.
- LOISEL, A., ISLA, A. & DAUFRESNE, M. (2019). Variation of thermal plasticity in growth and reproduction patterns: importance of ancestral and developmental temperatures. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 84, 460–468.
- LOPATINA, E. B., KIPYATKOV, V. E., BALASHOV, S. V. & KUTCHEROV, D. A. (2011). Photoperiod-temperature interaction—a new form of seasonal control of growth and development in insects and in particular a carabid beetle, *Amara communis* (Coleoptera: Carabidae). *Journal of Evolutionary Biochemistry and Physiology* 47, 578–592.
- LORCH, S., ZEUSS, D., BRANDL, R. & BRANDLE, M. (2016). Chromosome numbers in three species groups of freshwater flatworms increase with increasing latitude. *Ecology and Evolution* 6, 1420–1429.
- Lv, X., XIE, H., XIA, D., SHEN, C., LI, J. & LUO, Y. (2018). Mass scaling of the resting and maximum metabolic rates of the black carp. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 188, 591–598.
- MAKARIEVA, A. M., GORSHKOV, V. G. & LI, B. L. (2005). Temperature-associated upper limits to body size in terrestrial poikilotherms. *Oikos* 111, 425–436.
- MARSHALL, D. J. & WHITE, C. R. (2019). Have we outgrown the existing models of growth? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 34, 102–111.
- MARTÍNEZ-JERÓNIMO, F. (2012). Description of the individual growth of *Daphnia magna* (Crustacea: Cladocera) through the von Bertalanffy growth equation. Effect of photoperiod and temperature. *Limnology* 13, 65–71.
- MCLAREN, I. A. & MARCOGLIESE, D. J. (1983). Similar nucleus numbers among copepods. Canadian Journal of Zoology 61, 721–724.
- MCLAREN, I. A., SEVIGYY, J.-M. & CORKETT, C. J. (1988). Body sizes, development rates, and genome sizes among *Calanus* species. *Hydrobiologia* 167/168, 275–284.
- MERCKX, T., SOUFFREAU, C., KAISER, A., BAARDSEN, L. F., BACKELJAU, T., BONTE, D., BRANS, K. I., COURS, M., DAHIREL, M., DEBORTOLI, N., DE WOLF, K., ENGELEN, J. M. T., FONTANETO, D., GIANUCA, A. T., GOVAERT, L., HENDRICKX, F., HIGUTI, J., LENS, L., MARTENS, K., MATHEVE, H., MATTHYSEN, E., PIANO, E., SABLON, R., SCHÖN, I., VAN DONINCK, K., DE MEESTER, L. & VAN DYCK, H. (2018). Body-size shifts in aquatic and terrestrial urban communities. *Nature* 558, 113–116.
- MILLER, G. A., CLISSOLD, F. J., MAYNTZ, D. & SIMPSON, S. J. (2009). Speed over efficiency: locusts select body temperatures that favour growth rate over efficient nutrient utilization. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 276, 3581–3589.
- MINARDS, N. A., TREWICK, S. A., GODFREY, A. J. R. & MORGAN-RICHARDS, M. (2014). Convergent local adaptation in size and growth rate but not metabolic rate in a pair of parapatric Orthoptera species. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **113**, 123–135.
- MOFFETT, E. R., FRYXELL, D. C., PALKOVACS, E. P., KINNISON, M. T. & SIMON, K. S. (2018). Local adaptation reduces the metabolic cost of environmental warming. *Ecology* **99**, 2318–2326.
- MORAN, A. L. & WOODS, H. A. (2012). Why might they be giants? Towards an understanding of polar gigantism. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 215, 1995–2002.
- MYERS, R. A. & RUNGE, J. A. (1983). Predictions of seasonal natural mortality rates in a copepod population using life-history theory. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 11, 189–194.
- NEUBAUER, P. & ANDERSEN, K. H. (2019). Thermal performance of fish is explained by an interplay between physiology, behaviour and ecology. *Conservation Physiology* 7, coz025.

- NILSSON, G. E., DYMOWSKA, A. & STECYK, J. A. (2012). New insights into the plasticity of gill structure. *Respiratory Physiology and Neurobiology* 184, 214–222.
- OHLBERGER, J. (2013). Climate warming and ectotherm body size from individual physiology to community ecology. *Functional Ecology* 27, 991–1001.
- OLALLA-TÁRRAGA, M. Á. & RODRÍGUEZ, M. Á. (2007). Energy and interspecific body size patterns of amphibian faunas in Europe and North America: anurans follow Bergmann's rule, urodeles its converse. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 16, 606–617.
- PADMANABHA, H., BOLKER, B., LORD, C. C., RUBIO, C. & LOUNIBOS, L. P. (2011). Food availability alters the effects of larval temperature on *Aedes aegypti* growth. *Journal of Medical Entomology* 48, 974–984.
- PALLARÉS, S., LAI, M., ABELLÁN, P., RIBERA, I. & SÁNCHEZ-FERNÁNDEZ, D. (2019). An interspecific test of Bergmann's rule reveals inconsistent body size patterns across several lineages of water beetles (Coleoptera: Dytiscidae). *Ecological Entomology* 44, 249–254.
- PANOV, V. E. & MCQUEEN, D. J. (1998). Effects of temperature on individual growth rate and body size of a freshwater amphipod. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 76, 1107–1116.
- PARFREY, L. W., LAHR, D. J. & KATZ, L. A. (2008). The dynamic nature of eukaryotic genomes. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 25, 787–794.
- PARSON, S. M. A. & JOERN, A. (2014). Life history traits associated with body size covary along a latitudinal gradient in a generalist grasshopper. *Oecologia* 174, 379–391.
- PARTRIDGE, L., BARRIE, B., FOWLER, K. & FRENCH, V. (1994). Evolution and development of body size and cell size in *Drosophila melanogaster* in response to temperature. *Evolution* 48, 1269–1276.
- PAULY, D. (1998). Tropical fishes: patterns and propensities. *Journal of Fish Biology* 53A, 1–17.
- PAULY, D. (2010). Gasping Fish and Panting Squids: Oxygen, Temperature and the Growth of Water Breathing Animals. International Ecology Institute, Oldendorf/Luhe.
- PAULY, D. (2019). Female fish grow bigger-let's deal with it. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 34, 181–182.
- PAULY, D. & CHEUNG, W. W. L. (2018). Sound physiological knowledge and principles in modeling shrinking of fishes under climate change. *Global Change Biology* 24, E15–E26.
- PEDERSEN, C. L. (1987). Energy budgets for juvenile rainbow trout at various oxygen concentrations. Aquaculture 62, 289–298.
- PERRIN, N. (1988). Why are offspring born larger when it is colder? Phenotypic plasticity for offspring size in the cladoceran *Simocephalus vetulus* (Muller). *Functional Ecology* 2, 283–288.
- PIANKA, E. R. (1970). On r- and K-selection. American Naturalist 104, 592-597.
- PINCHEIRA-DONOSO, D. (2010). The balance between predictions and evidence and the search for universal macroecological patterns: taking Bergmann's rule back to its endothermic origin. *Theory in Biosciences* **129**, 247–253.
- PORTNER, H.-O. (2001). Climate change and temperature-dependent biogeography: oxygen limitation of thermal tolerance in animals. *Naturwissenschaften* 88, 137–146.
- POSLEDOVICH, D., TOFTEGAARD, T., NAVARRO-CANO, J. A., WIKLUND, C., EHRLÉN, J. & GOTTHARD, K. (2014). Latitudinal variation in thermal reaction norms of postwinter pupal development in two butterflies differing in phenological specialization. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **113**, 981–991.
- PROKOPOWICH, C., GREGORY, T. & CREASE, T. (2003). The correlation between rDNA copy number and genome size in eukaryotes. *Genome* 46, 48–50.
- PÜTTER, A. (1920). Studien über physiologische Ähnlichkeit. VI. Wachstumsähnlichkeiten. Pflügers Archiv für die Gesamte Physiologie des Menschen und der Tiere 180, 298–340.
- REID, A. J., FARRELL, M. J., LUKE, M. N. & CHAPMAN, L. J. (2013). Implications of hypoxia tolerance for wetlandrefugia use in Lake Nabugabo, Uganda. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 22, 421–429.
- ROBB, T. & ABRAHAMS, M. V. (2003). Variation in tolerance to hypoxia in a predator and prey species: an ecological advantage of being small? *Journal of Fish Biology* 62, 1067–1081.
- ROFF, D. (1980). Optimizing development time in a seasonal environment: the 'ups and downs' of clinal variation. *Oecologia* 45, 202–208.
- ROLLINSON, N. & ROWE, L. (2018). Temperature-dependent oxygen limitation and the rise of Bergmann's rule in species with aquatic respiration. *Evolution* 72, 977–988.
- RUPPERT, E. E., FOX, R. S. & BARNES, R. D. (2004). Invertebrate Zoology. A Functional Evolutionary Approach, 7th Edition. Cengage Learning. Thomson-Brooks/Cole, Belmont.
- RYPEL, A. L. (2014). The cold-water connection: Bergmann's rule in north American freshwater fishes. *The American Naturalist* 183, 147–156.
- SCHARF, I., GALKIN, N. & HALLE, S. (2015). Disentangling the consequences of growth temperature and adult acclimation temperature on starvation and thermal tolerance in the red flour beetle. *Evolutionary Biology* 42, 54–62.
- SEEBACHER, F., WHITE, C. R. & FRANKLIN, C. E. (2015). Physiological plasticity increases resilience of ectothermic animals to climate change. *Nature Climate Change* 5, 61–66.
- SEIBEL, B. A. & DEUTSCH, C. (2020). Oxygen supply capacity in animals evolves to meet maximum demand at the current oxygen partial pressure regardless of size or temperature. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 223, jeb210492.

- SIBLY, R. M. & ATKINSON, D. (1994). How rearing temperature affects optimal adult size in ectotherms. *Functional Ecology* 8, 486–493.
- SNIEGULA, S., GOLAB, M. J. & JOHANSSON, F. (2016). A large-scale latitudinal pattern of life-history traits in a strictly univolute damselfly. *Ecological Entomology* 41, 459–472.
- STEARNS, S. C. (1992). The Evolution of Life Histories. Oxford University Press, New York. STELZER, C. P. (2002). Phenotypic plasticity of body size at different temperatures in a planktonic rotifer: mechanisms and adaptive significance. Functional Ecology 16, 835–841.
- SUBCZYNSKI, W., HYDE, J. & KUSUMI, A. (1989). Oxygen permeability of phosphatidylcholine cholesterol membranes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 86, 4474–4478.
- SWEENEY, B. W., FUNK, D. H., CAMP, A. A., BUCHWALTER, D. B. & JACKSON, J. K. (2013). Why adult mayflies of *Cloon dipterum* (Ephemeroptera: Baetidae) become smaller as temperature warms. *Freshwater Science* 37, 64–81.
- SZARSKI, H. (1983). Cell size and the concept of wasteful and frugal evolutionary strategies. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **105**, 201–209.
- TREXLER, J. C., TRAVIS, J. & TREXLER, M. (1990). Phenotypic plasticity in the sailfin molly, Poecilia latipinna (Pisces: Poeciliidae). II. Laboratory experiment. Evolution 44, 157–167.
- TU, C.-Y., CHEN, K.-T. & HSIEH, C. (2018). Fishing and temperature effects on the size structure of exploited fish stocks. *Scientific Reports* 8, 7132.
- URBINA, M. A. & GLOVER, C. N. (2013). Relationship between fish size and metabolic rate in the oxyconforming inanga *Galaxias maculatus* reveals size-dependent strategies to withstand hypoxia. *Physiological and Biochemical Zoology* 86, 740–749.
- VAN DE POL, I. L. E., FLIK, G. & VERBERK, W. C. E. P. (2020). Triploidy in zebrafish larvae: effects on gene expression, ccll size and cell number, growth, development and swimming performance. *PLoSONE* 15(3), e0229468.
- VAN DER HAVE, T. M. (2008). Slaves to the Eyring Equation? Temperature Dependence of Life-History Characters in Developing Ectotherms. PhD thesis. Wageningen University. VAN DER HAVE, T. M. & DE JONG, G. (1996). Adult size in ectotherms: temperature
- effects on growth and differentiation. Journal of Theoretical Biology 183, 329–340.
- VAN DYCK, H., BONTE, D., PULS, R., GOTTHARD, K. & MAES, D. (2015). The lost generation hypothesis: could climate change drive ectotherms into a developmental trap? *Oikos* 124, 54–61.
- VAN GEEST, G. J., SACHSE, R., BREHM, M., VAN DONK, E. & HESSEN, D. O. (2010). Maximizing growth rate at low temperatures: RNA:DNA allocation strategies and life history traits of Arctic and temperate *Daphnia*. *Polar Biology* **33**, 1255–1262.
- VAN RIJN, I., BUBA, Y., DELONG, J., KIFLAWI, M. & BELMAKER, J. (2017). Large but uneven reduction in fish size across species in relation to changing sea temperatures. *Global Change Biology* 23, 3667–3674.
- VAN VOORHIES, W. A. (1996). Bergmann size clines: a simple explanation for their occurrence in ectotherms. *Evolution* 50, 1259–1264.
- VAN WINGERDEN, W. K. R. E., MUSTERS, J. C. M. & MAASKAMP, F. I. M. (1991). The influence of temperature on the duration of egg development in west European grasshoppers (Orthoptera: Acrididae). *Oecologia* 87, 417–423.
- VAN'T HOF, J. & SPARROW, A. H. (1963). A relationship between DNA content nuclear volume, and minimum mitotic cycle time. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of* the United States of America 49, 897–902.
- VERBERK, W. C. E. P. & ATKINSON, D. (2013). Why polar gigantism and Palaeozoic gigantism are not equivalent: effects of oxygen and temperature on the body size of ectotherms. *Functional Ecology* 27, 1275–1285.
- VERBERK, W. C. E. P. & BILTON, D. T. (2013). Respiratory control in aquatic insects dictates their vulnerability to global warming. *Biology Letters* 9, 20130473.

- VERBERK, W. C. E. P., BILTON, D. T., CALOSI, P. & SPICER, J. I. (2011). Oxygen supply in aquatic ectotherms: partial pressure and solubility together explain biodiversity and size patterns. *Ecology* 92, 1565–1572.
- VON BERTALANFFY, L. (1960). Principles and theory of growth. In Fundamental Aspects of Normal and Malignant Growth (ed. W. W. NOWINSKI), pp. 137–259. Elsevier Publishing Company, Amsterdam.
- WALCZYSKA, A., DAKO, M. & KOZŁOWSKI, J. (2010). The considerable adult size variability in wood feeders is optimal. *Ecological Entomology* 35, 16–24.
- WALCZYSKA, A., LABECKA, A. M., SOBCZYK, M., CZARNOLĘSKI, M. & KOZŁOWSKI, J. (2015a). The temperature-size rule in *Lecane inermis* (Rotifera) is adaptive and driven by nuclei size adjustment to temperature and oxygen combinations. *Journal* of *Thermal Biology* 54, 78–85.
- WALCZYSKA, A., SOBCZYK, M., CZARNOLĘSKI, M. & KOZŁOWSKI, J. (2015b). The temperature-size rule in a rotifer is determined by the mother and at the egg stage. *Evolutionary Ecology* 29, 525–536.
- WALCZYSKA, A., KIEŁBASA, A. & SOBCZYK, M. (2016). 'Optimal thermal range' in ectotherms: defining criteria for tests of the temperature-size rule. *Journal of Thermal Biology* **60**, 41–48.
- WALTERS, R. J. & HASSALL, M. (2006). The temperature-size rule in ectotherms: may a general explanation exist after all? *The American Naturalist* 167, 510–523.
- WATT, C., MITCHELL, S. & SALEWSKI, V. (2010). Bergmann's rule; a concept cluster? Oikos 119, 89–100.
- WEBER, M. J., BROWN, M. L., WAHL, D. H. & SHOUP, D. E. (2015). Metabolic theory explains latitudinal variation in common carp populations and predicts responses to climate change. *Ecosphere* 6, 1–16.
- WEETMAN, D. & ATKINSON, D. (2004). Evaluation of alternative hypotheses to explain temperature-induced life history shifts in *Daphnia. Journal of Plankton Research* 26, 107–116.
- WHITE, M. M. & MCLAREN, I. A. (2000). Copepod development rates in relation to genome size and 18S rDNA copy number. *Genome* 43, 750–755.
- WOODS, H. A. (1999). Egg-mass size and cell size: effects of temperature on oxygen distribution. *American Zoologist* 39, 244–252.
- WOODS, H. A. (2014). Mosaic physiology from developmental noise: within-organism physiological diversity as an alternative to phenotypic plasticity and phenotypic flexibility. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 217, 35–45.
- WOODS, H. A. & MORAN, A. L. (2020). Reconsidering the oxygen-temperature hypothesis of polar gigantism: successes, failures, and nuance. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* **2020**, icaa088.
- WYNGAARD, G. A. & RASCH, E. M. (2000). Patterns of genome size in the copepoda. Hydrobiologia 417, 43–56.
- WYNGAARD, G. A., RASCH, E. M., MANNING, N. M., GASSER, K. & DOMANGUE, R. (2005). The relationship between genome size, development rate, and body size in copepods. *Hydrobiologia* 532, 123–137.
- XI, X., WU, X., NVLIN, S. & SUN, S. (2016). Body size response to warming: time of the season matters in a tephritid fly. Oikos 125, 386–394.
- XIA, X. H. (1995). Body-temperature, rate of biosynthesis, and evolution of genome size. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 12, 834–842.
- YASUDA, N., MIXAMOTO, N., FUJIWARA, Y., YAMAMOTO, T. & YUSA, Y. (2016). Effects of food availability on growth and reproduction of the deep-sea pedunculate barnacle *Heteralepas canci. Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers* 108, 53–57.
- ZEUSS, D., BRUNZEL, S. & BRANDL, R. (2017). Environmental drivers of voltinism and body size in insect assemblages across Europe. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 26, 154–165.

(Received 29 August 2019; revised and accepted 28 August 2020; published online 22 September 2020)